Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Jill Harley Dunham

Date

Trafficking and Signaling of Parkin-Associated

Endothelin-Like Receptor GPR37

By

Jill Harley Dunham

B.S. The University of Georgia, 2003

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Program in Molecular and Systems Pharmacology

> Randy Hall, Ph.D. Adviser

Allan Levey, M.D., Ph.D. Committee Member

John Hepler, Ph.D. Committee Member

Lian Li, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School

Date

TRAFFICKING AND SIGNALING OF THE PARKIN-ASSOCIATED ENDOTHELIN-LIKE RECEPTOR GPR37

By

Jill Harley Dunham

B.S., University of Georgia, 2003

Advisor: Randy A. Hall, Ph.D.

An Abstract of a dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Molecular and Systems Pharmacology

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

<u>Abstract</u>

Trafficking and Signaling of Parkin-Associated Endothelin Like Receptor GPR37

Jill Harley Dunham

Dopaminergic neuronal cell death is a hallmark of Parkinson's disease (PD), believed at least in part to be due to protein aggregation. This cell death leads to a major disruption of the dopaminergic system, which is involved in many different aspects of behavior, such as movement, cognition, motivation, and pleasure. GPR37, also known as parkin-associated endothelin-like receptor (Pael-R), is an orphan G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) that exhibits poor plasma membrane expression when expressed in most cell types. Due to the association of GPR37 with the PD-associated gene parkin, GPR37 is considered as a potential target for novel PD therapies. Thus, we sought to find ways to enhance GPR37 trafficking to the cell surface in order to facilitate studies of GPR37 functional activity in heterologous cells. In truncation studies, we found that removing the receptor's N-terminus (NT) dramatically enhanced the receptor's plasma membrane insertion. Further studies on sequential NT truncations revealed that removal of the first 210 amino acids increased surface expression nearly as much as removal of the entire NT. In studies examining the effects of co-expression of GPR37 with a variety of other GPCRs, we observed significant increases in GPR37 surface expression when the receptor was co-expressed with the adenosine receptor $A_{2A}R$ or the dopamine receptor D₂R. Co-immunoprecipitation experiments revealed that full-length GPR37 and, to a greater extent, the truncated GPR37 were capable of robustly associating with D_2R , resulting in modestly-altered D_2R affinity for both agonists and antagonists. In studies examining potential interactions of GPR37 with PDZ scaffolds, we observed a specific interaction between GPR37 and syntenin-1, which resulted in a dramatic increase in GPR37 surface expression in HEK-293 cells. These findings reveal three independent approaches - N-terminal truncation, co-expression with other receptors and co-expression with syntenin-1 – by which GPR37 surface trafficking in heterologous cells can be greatly enhanced to facilitate functional studies and drug discovery efforts focused on this orphan receptor.

TRAFFICKING AND SIGNALING OF THE PARKIN-ASSOCIATED ENDOTHELIN-LIKE RECEPTOR GPR37

By

Jill Harley Dunham

B.S., University of Georgia, 2003

Advisor: Randy A. Hall, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Molecular and Systems Pharmacology

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

CHAPTER I: Introduction 1
1.1 G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs)2
1.2 Clinical relevance of GPCRs
1.3 Signaling through GPCRs
1.4 Orphan GPCRs
1.5 Trafficking of GPCRs9
1.5.1 Domains enhancing forward trafficking11
1.5.2 Domains preventing forward trafficking15
1.5.2 Receptor-receptor interactions that assist in proper trafficking
1.5.3 Associating proteins assist in proper trafficking19
1.5.4 GPCR trafficking defects in human disease 21
1.5.4.1 Vasopressin and Nephrogenic Diabetes Insipidus
1.5.4.2 Rhodopsin and Retinitis Pigmentosa23
1.5.4.3 Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Receptor and Hypogonadic
Hypogonadism23
1.5.5 Trafficking of orphan GPCRs24
1.6 Parkin-Associated Endothelin-Like Receptor (PAEL-R)/GPR3725
1.6.1 Endothelin-Like26
1.6.2 Parkinson's disease and the Parkin-Associated Receptor GPR3729
1.7 Overall Hypothesis
CHAPTER II: Structural Determinants Controlling Surface Trafficking of GPR37
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Experimental Procedures
2.3 Results

Table of Contents

2.3.1 GPR37L1 exhibits robust cell surface expression but GPR37 does not 41
2.3.2 N-terminal truncation of GPR37 increases plasma membrane expression44
2.3.3 Structural determinants on the GPR37 N-terminus control receptor surface
expression44
2.3.4 Plasma membrane expression of GPR37 does not seem to be influenced by
individual N-terminal amino acids47
2.3.5 Head Activator does not detectably activate wt GPR37, Δ NT GPR37, Δ^{1-210} GPR37,
or GPR37L147
2.4 Discussion55
CHAPTER III: Regulation of GPR37 Surface Expression by Protein-Protein Interactions
3.1 Introduction59
3.2 Experimental Procedures62
3.3 Results
3.3.1 Antagonists of ET_BR do not influence the cellular trafficking of GPR3768
3.3.2 Dopamine receptor D ₂ R interacts with GPR3768
3.3.3 Co-expression with Δ 1-210 GPR37 alters D ₂ R ligand-binding properties
3.3.4 Co-expression of GPR37 with syntenin-1 enhances GPR37 surface expression. 80
3.4 Discussion
Chapter IV: Conclusion87

List of Figures

Figure I-1. Approaches for enhancement of G protein-coupled receptor surface
expression12-13
Figure I-2. GPCR phylogenetic tree27-28
Figure II-1. GPR37L1 exhibits robust cell surface expression as compared to
GPR3743-44
Figure II-2. N-terminal truncation of GPR37 enhances plasma membrane
expression46-47
Figure II-3. Structural determinants on the GPR37 N-terminus control receptor surface
expression49-50
Figure II-4. Point mutations created between amino acids 175 and 210 exhibit no effect
on GPR37 surface expression51-52
Figure II-5. Head activator does not stimulate GPR37 internalization or
signaling54-55
Figure III-1. ET _B R antagonists do not enhance cell surface trafficking of
GPR3770-71
Figure III-2. Physical association between D ₂ R and GPR3773-74
Figure III-3. Quinpirole stimulation induces no effect on surface expression of Δ^{1-210} or
its interaction with D_2R 75-76
Figure III-4. D ₂ R antagonists exhibit enhanced affinity for D ₂ R in the presence of Δ^{1-210}
GPR3778-79
Table III-1. Co-expression with Δ^{1-210} GPR37 modulates D ₂ R ligand binding
affinity80
Figure III-5. Physical association between GPR37 and syntenin-182-83
Figure IV-1. Approaches for enhancement of GPR37 surface expression90-91

Figure IV-2. Possible therapeutic targets involving GPR37 and its interacting

partners.....94-95

List of Abbreviations

4-phenylbutyrate	4-PBA
Adenylyl Cyclase	AC
Adrenergic Receptor	AR
Angiotensin	AT
Autosomal Dominant Retinit Pigmentosa	is ADRP
Autosomal Recessive Juvenil Parkinson's Disease	e AR-JP
Bilateral Frontoparietal polymicrogyria	BFPP
Bovine Serum Albumin	BSA
Calcitonin Receptor-Like Receptor	.CRLR
Cannabinoid	СВ
C-terminus	СТ
Diacylglycerol	DAG
Dopamine Receptor	DR
Dopamine Transporter	DAT
Dopaminergic	DA
Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium	.DMEM
Endoplasmic Reticulum	ER
Endothelin Receptor	ETR
Extracellular	EC
Extracellular Signal-Regulate Kinase	ed …ERK

Fetal Bovine SerumFBS
γ-Aminobutyric AcidGABA
Glutathione S-transferaseGST
Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone ReceptorGnRHR
G-protein coupled receptorGPCR
GPCR kinaseGRK
GPR37-Like 1GPR37L1
Head activatorHA
Human Embryonic KidneyHEK
Hypogonadic hypogonadismHH
Inositol 1,4,5-triphosphateIP ₃
KnockoutKO
Major HistocompatibilityMHC
Melanocortin ReceptorMCR
Melanocortin Receptor Accessory ProteinMRAP
Metabotropic Glutamate Receptor mGluR
Na(+)/H(+) Exchanger Regulatory FactorNHERF
Nephrogenic Diabetes InsipidusNDI
Neuropeptide Y ReceptorNPYR
N-terminusNT
Odorant Response abnormalODR
Olfactory ReceptorOR

ParaformaldehydePFA	
Parkin-associated endothelin-like ReceptorPael-	·R
Parkinson's diseasePD	
Phosphate Buffered SalinePBS	
Postsynaptic density protein, Disc large and Zonula OccludensPDZ	ç
Receptor activity modifying proteinRAMI	D
Receptor expression enhancing proteinREEP	
Retinitis PigmentosaRP	
Rhodopsin 1 receptorRh1	
Room TemperatureRT	
Serotonergic Receptor5-HTR	
Taste ReceptorTR	
TransgenicTg	
TransmembraneTM	
Vasopressin ReceptorVR	
Wild Typewt	

CHAPTER I: Introduction

1.1 G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs)

Multicellular organisms possess a plethora of receptors that detect extracellular stimuli. Members within the largest class of cell-surface receptors possess seven transmembrane spans and exhibit characteristic coupling to G-proteins to elicit intracellular responses upon activation. Thus, the members of this family have been dubbed G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), seven-transmembrane receptors, or heptahelical receptors.

Most vertebrate genomes encode approximately 1000 GPCRs, making the GPCR superfamily the largest group of cell surface receptors (Hill 2006). They are also the most diverse group of cell surface receptors, in that they can be activated by any number of small molecules, including peptides, biogenic amines, lipid mediators, hormones, and amino acids, as well as sensory stimuli as in the case of olfactory, taste, and visual GPCRs (Civelli 2005). Each of these activators, also known as ligands, are either already present in the environment or are released from one cell to then carry a message to another cell (Civelli et al 2006). GPCRs sometimes exhibit specificity for specific ligands, although in many cases a given GPCR may bind to multiple ligands. In other cases, one ligand may activate multiple receptors. GPCRs activated by related ligands generally share significant sequence homology, such that they are considered as members of a subfamily.

Broad GPCR subfamilies have been created via division of the GPCR superfamily into six subclasses, typically dubbed classes A-F, which are then often broken down even further into smaller, more specifically defined groups. Classes D-F are represented only among non-mammalian species (Kristiansen 2004), so the focus here will be on classes A-C. The largest of the classes is class A, also referred to as the *Rhodopsin*-like family. It

includes over 650 human receptor proteins, including the olfactory receptors(ORs), which compose the largest GPCR subgroup (Lagerstrom & Schioth 2008). Class A receptors typically have shorter N-termini (NT) than class B or C receptors and contain specific highly-conserved sequence motifs within their transmembrane (TM) regions (Insel et al 2007). The ligands of class A receptors are varied, from small peptides, biogenic amines and purines to chemosensory signals, so class A is oftentimes subdivided further— α , β , γ , and δ —based upon the size and chemical nature of the ligands that activate them (Gurrath 2001; Lagerstrom & Schioth 2008). Interestingly, the mode of activation of each subgroup is the same for all but a select few, with ligand interaction at the TM regions and extracellular (EC) loops initiating receptor activation (Gurrath 2001; Ji et al 1998).

Class B is a much smaller family of GPCRs but is also subdivided into subgroups. One group of GPCRS, the *Secretin* receptors, possesses an EC binding domain that binds peptide hormones. These receptors contain conserved cysteine residues, which likely form disulfide bonds, in the first and second extracellular loops of the TM regions (Lagerstrom & Schioth 2008). *Adhesion* receptors make up the second subfamily of Class B GPCRs; extracellular matrix molecules are likely to be their natural ligands. Only 48 identified receptors belong to class B and they vary most at their long N-terminal (NT) regions, the region most crucial for ligand interactions of receptors in this family. The ligand is believed to activate the receptors by bridging the NT and the TM segments or the EC loops (Lagerstrom & Schioth 2008).

Class C includes only 22 human receptors, composed mainly of metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) and taste receptors (TRs). Most of these receptors bind their ligands within the NT region, which is often compared to a Venus flytrap due to its folded formation. However, allosteric modulators, which activate the receptor by

binding somewhere other than the active ligand binding site, are common for many of these receptors and seem to interact with various TM regions of the GPCRs.

1.2 Clinical relevance of GPCRs

GPCRs participate in many different physiological responses. Most cells express at least a handful of GPCRs and one cell may express dozens of different GPCRs, each with their own distinct specificity for one or several G-proteins (Civelli et al 2006; Hardman 2001). This widespread importance in the human body is partly the reason that GPCRs currently comprise 30-45% of all clinical drug targets and have been the number one target for drug discovery for some time (Kristiansen 2004; Lagerstrom & Schioth 2008). The main focus of drug discovery for GPCRs, however, has been on those therapeutics acting at class A biogenic amine-binding receptors. In fact, only about 30 GPCRs are currently clinically targeted, with just a few of those being non-class A targets (Gurrath 2001; Mustafi 2009). However, there is great potential in other GPCRs, such as those that bind peptides, because they bind to a more limited number of ligands than others. In addition, many of these peptide-activated GPCRs are involved in pain sensation, the immune system, and body weight regulation, and therefore are potential targets for treating diseases that affect everyone, regardless of race, age, or gender (Lagerstrom & Schioth 2008).

Every GPCR depends upon a relay chain of intracellular signaling, with the most classic example beginning with coupling to G-proteins. In visual transduction, for example, a single activated rhodopsin molecule catalyzes the activation of hundreds of molecules of transducin at a rate of about 1000 transducin molecules per second. Each

one of those molecules then activates a molecule of cyclic GMP phophodiesterase, which each hydrolyze about 4000 molecules of cyclic GMP per second. This cascade only lasts about 1 second, but results in the hydrolysis of over 10⁵ cyclic GMP molecules and the closure of hundreds of Na²⁺ channels in the plasma membrane (Alberts 2002). Therefore, a single extracellular signal molecule activates a single GPCR, but has the capacity to influence an entire system's equilibrium. A cascade such as this, though, with amplification of stimulatory signals, requires a compensating mechanism at every step to restore the system to its resting state when stimulation ceases. All cells possess efficient mechanisms for rapidly degrading cyclic nucleotides, buffering and removing cytosolic Ca²⁺, and inactivating responding enzymes and ion channels. The speed, extent and relative brevity of GPCR-initiated downstream signaling are the major reasons as to why GPCRs are valuable drug targets.

A variety of additional factors also help to explain why GPCRs have proven to be such valuable targets in drug discovery. The location of GPCRs on the cell-surface makes them easily accessible, especially to drugs which cannot pass through the plasma membrane. Furthermore, a key part of drug discovery is to create drugs that will selectively act on a particular receptor in a particular tissue, sparing those in other tissues to minimize side effects. The discrete tissue distribution of GPCRs allows for such desired selectivity (Insel et al 2007). Finally, lead compounds are the starting points for molecular optimization of drugs that may target and activate or block a given receptor; endogenous ligands are great leads for developing drugs to target individual receptors. In addition, each well-characterized GPCR possesses a defined ligand-binding pocket that can be targeted by small molecular weight compounds (Levoye & Jockers 2008). For instance, the well-defined adrenergic receptors have been particularly useful as drug targets for treatments of disorders ranging from prostatic hyperplasia and

congestive heart failure to asthma and the delay of preterm labor (Insel et al 2007; Ram & Sestini 2003; Squire & Barnett 2000). This is true in part because the structures of the endogenous ligands epinephrine and norepinephrine are well-understood. The use of these receptors as targets may further increase, too, since crystal structures of two of the β -adrenergic receptors bound to inverse agonists were recently determined (Cherezov 2007; Rasmussen 2007; Rosenbaum 2007). This type of structural data creates a framework for designing and testing potential models of transformation from inactive to active receptor signaling states and for initiating rational drug design, which is likely the next step in targeting GPCRs clinically.

1.3 Signaling through GPCRs

Upon activation by agonists, the majority of GPCRs couple to heterotrimeric Gproteins. G-proteins are composed of three subunits— α , β , and γ —and are divided into 4 major families, based upon the degree of primary sequence similarities of their α subunits (Kristiansen 2004). All of the major families, G α_s , G α_i , G α_q , and G α_{12} , are associated with different biological outputs—activation of adenylyl cyclase, inhibition of adenylyl cyclase, activation of PLC β , and regulation of the RhoGEFs, respectively—but they all follow similar activation and inactivation cycles. These cycles include GDP binding to the α subunit and subsequent association with the $\beta\gamma$ subunits, forming the inactive heterotrimer. Agonist binding to a receptor induces a conformational change that promotes the receptor's interactions with G-proteins, which induces guanine nucleotide exchange on the α subunit: GDP is rapidly released from its binding site, GTP instantly replaces it, and the heterotrimer dissociates, resulting in the aforementioned biological outputs. Inactivation occurs when GTP gets hydrolyzed back to GDP by GTPase and/or when the G-proteins are inactivated by GTPase activating proteins and the heterotrimer reassociates.

Though the majority of GPCRs exhibit the capacity for G-protein coupling, they are also capable of signaling independently of the heterotrimeric G-proteins. By associating with scaffolding, chaperone, or signaling proteins, GPCRs can organize various signaling complexes to generate a variety of responses. For instance, activated GPCRs can be phosphorylated by GPCR kinases (GRKs), increasing their affinity for β arrestins, which can then initiate a round signaling via mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades, promoting ERK1/2 phosphorylation (Gurevich & Gurevich 2008; Lefkowitz 1998). Via association with the Na⁺-H⁺ exchanger regulatory factor (NHERF), the β_2 adrenergic receptor (AR) can also function without coupling to a $G\alpha$ -protein to induce inhibition of renal Na⁺-H⁺ exchangers (Hall et al 1998a; Hall et al 1998b). Additionally, metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) can associate with the endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-associated IP3 receptor via physical interaction with Homer to induce release of intracellular Ca²⁺ (Brzostowski & Kimmel 2001; Tu et al 1998). GPCRs can also signal through pathways not traditionally associated with G-protein coupling, such as Jak/STAT cascades, as demonstrated by experiments with angiotensin II (AT) receptors and serotonergic (5-HT) receptors. Specifically, STAT3 becomes phosphorylated in response to stimulation of 5-HT_{2A} receptors and interaction of the AT₁ receptor with JAK 2 occurs upon angiotensin II stimulation (Ali et al 1997; Guillet-Deniau et al 1997). By associating with GPCRs, scaffolding proteins like NHERF, and signaling proteins, such as β -arrestins, JAK and STAT, are able to induce intracellular effects independent of G-protein coupling or activation of another type of receptor.

1.4 Orphan GPCRs

The concept of ligands binding to putative receptors dates back to the work of Paul Ehrlich in Germany, who studied the interaction of dyes with biological structures (Hill 2006). A better understanding of the differentiation of ligands and the progression into labeling them as agonists, partial agonists, and antagonists was then developed in the mid 1900's. However, it was not until the development of radioligand-binding studies in the late 1960's that the molecular properties of GPCRs could begin to be deciphered. The purification and subsequent cloning in the 1980s of rhodopsin and several ARs $-\beta_2$, α_{2A} , and α_{1B} —opened up the field of GPCRs to what we now know today, which is the recognition of many more predicted receptors than currently identified ligands (Lefkowitz 2004).

While many GPCRs have been matched to a known endogenous ligand, more than 100 still have not; these have been termed orphan GPCRs. Initial discoveries of GPCRs through homology screening, low stringency hybridization, and PCR-derived approaches left their pharmacological properties a mystery (Civelli et al 2006). For a period of time, 'deorphanization' of these receptors was occurring at a rate of about 7-8 matches per year (Civelli 2005; Civelli et al 2006). In the past five years, however, the rate of deorphanization has been reduced to about half of that. A few reasons for this severe cut in deorphanizing receptors have been proposed. First, it has been suggested that some of these so-called orphan receptors may not have significant roles in mammals as ligand-binding receptors. Instead, orphan GPCRs are suggested to possibly act as transporters or chaperones, whereby receptors might assist in the trafficking of other receptors to the cell surface but are not needed to bind ligand. Similarly, it has been suggested that perhaps orphan receptors function simply to regulate pharmacological

properties of non-orphan GPCRs, as has been argued for the Mrg GPCR pair, MrgD (non-orphan; activated by β -alanine) and MrgE (orphan). It has not been definitively determined that MrgE does not have a ligand; however, in the context of the heterodimer, MrgE is observed to regulate both signaling and trafficking of MrgD (Milasta et al 2006). In addition, identification of constitutively active orphan receptors, such as the human herpesvirus-8-encoded receptor ORF74 and the Epstein-Barr virus-induced receptor 2, has raised the issue that some orphan receptors may not need to bind ligand to exert effects on cellular physiology (Levoye et al 2006). While these are all valid points, it is still widely expected that most orphan GPCRs will be found to bind endogenous ligands.

The primary way to determine the endogenous ligand of orphan GPCRs has typically been to express the receptors in heterologous cells, screen them against a variety of peptides and other ligands and look for some sort of second messenger response such as the previously listed biological outputs such as AC activation, cAMP production, or IP₃ production. Since most GPCR ligands are not membrane-permeable, it is imperative that the receptor be situated at the cell surface in these screens, such that the ligand has full access to its binding site, which is possibly a key reason as to why certain receptors have not been deorphanized. Many of the receptors that remain orphans may be GPCRs that are not well-expressed at the cell surface when transfected into heterologous cells.

1.5 Trafficking of GPCRs

Cell surface localization of GPCRs relies on two principal mechanisms: receptor delivery to a site and retention at that site (Tan et al 2004). Many factors are involved in

the process of receptor delivery to the plasma membrane. One key factor is endoplasmic reticulum (ER) quality control. The ER is the primary location for protein folding and maturation, which must proceed properly for a receptor to be released out of the ER. Several co-translational and post-translational modifications take place in the ER, such as disulfide-bond formation, signal-peptide cleavage, and N-linked glycosylation, which are all imperative for proper protein folding (Ellgaard & Helenius 2003). Chaperones and folding enzymes are present in the ER lumen in high concentrations and play a part in all of these processes. If problems occur in these steps, the strict quality control system within the ER will prevent the transport of receptors and other proteins from the ER to the Golgi, which then prevents eventual trafficking to the cell surface. This both extends the exposure of substrates to the folding machinery to improve the chance for appropriate maturation, and also ensures that proteins are not dispatched to terminal compartments when they are still incompletely folded, which potentially could be toxic to the cell.

For instance, various amino acid motifs have been found on the NT or Cterminus (CT) of GPCRs, that play a variety of roles in intracellular trafficking, including anterograde trafficking inhibition, like the RSRR motif on the CT of GABA_BR1, discussed later (Margeta-Mitrovic et al 2000). It is known, however, that GABA_BR1 still escapes from the ER *in vivo*, as it is necessary to create a functional GABA_BR. It seems that motifs such as this one can be masked from the quality control system via oligomerization with other GPCRs or association with other proteins that play roles as trafficking chaperones. This information became pharmacologically relevant when experiments using antagonists or other proteins, targeted at GPCRs retained in the ER in disease states such as nephrogenic diabetes insipidus (NDI) and hypogonadic

hypogonadism (HH), allowed the receptors to bypass the quality control system of the ER and reduced the disease-related symptoms (Bernier et al 2004a).

GPCRs often experience such trafficking woes when expressed in heterologous cell lines, preventing them from expressing at the plasma membrane and hindering successful functional studies. However, for structure-function studies and drug screening efforts, it is critically important to be able to express receptors in cells that do not endogenously express the receptor of interest. Therefore, it is essential for receptor characterization, deorphanization and, most importantly, drug discovery, that orphan receptors' trafficking in heterologous cells be understood and controlled. Several different methods that have been employed for enhancing receptor trafficking are shown in Figure I-1.

1.5.1 Domains enhancing forward trafficking

One major approach that has been utilized to enhance the plasma membrane expression of GPCRs in heterologous cells is the addition of sequences to the aminotermini of receptors. The first example of this approach was the engineering of an artificial signal sequence onto the N-terminus of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor (Guan et al 1992), which resulted in a several-fold increase in insertion of the receptor into the plasma membrane. Artificial signal sequences have subsequently been used to enhance the surface expression of other GPCRs, notably the CB1 cannabinoid receptor (Andersson et al 2003; McDonald et al 2007). It is presumed that signal sequences facilitate receptor interactions with the signal recognition particle (SRP) and SRP receptor, which promote more efficient receptor targeting through the ER and membrane insertion (Hegde & Kang 2008).

Other types of sequences, beyond traditional signal sequences, have also been grafted onto the N-termini of certain GPCRs in order to enhance their surface

Figure I-1. Experimental approaches for enhancement of G protein-coupled receptor surface expression. When expressed in heterologous cells, many GPCRs exhibit poor plasma membrane trafficking, which can be enhanced using a variety of methods. For instance, addition or deletion of receptor sequences can in some cases greatly improve receptor surface expression. In other situations, co-expression with specific receptor-interacting partners can strongly promote proper surface trafficking. These receptor-interacting partners can either be transmembrane proteins, as illustrated in this schematic figure, or cytoplasmic proteins that associate with receptors' intracellular domains. Finally, pharmacological chaperones can release certain misfolded receptors from the endoplasmic reticulum and allow their enhanced trafficking to the plasma membrane.



expression. For example, in the case of olfactory receptors (ORs), which are the largest subfamily of GPCRs with more than 300 members in humans and approximately 1000 members in rodents, a variety of N-terminal sequences have been utilized to enhance plasma membrane targeting. Most ORs are inefficiently trafficked to the plasma membrane in heterologous cells (Bush & Hall 2008), but the additions of N-terminal sequences from the serotonin 5-HT3 receptor (Wellerdieck et al 1997; Wetzel et al 1999) or rhodopsin (Katada et al 2004; Krautwurst et al 1998) have been shown to markedly enhance heterologous surface expression of many ORs. The use of ORs with modified N-termini has allowed for significant advances over the past few years in defining the pharmacological and signaling properties of this large and diverse family of GPCRs (Bush & Hall 2008).

While most sequences that enhance GPCR trafficking have been added to the Nterminal regions of the receptors, there are also examples of C-terminal additions that enhance receptor surface expression. For example, the rat gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor (GnRHR) has a very short C-terminal tail and exhibits poor surface expression in most heterologous cells, whereas the catfish GnRHR has a much longer Cterminal region and exhibits robust surface expression in most cell types (Lin et al 1998). Addition of the catfish GnRHR C-terminus onto the rat GnRHR results in a striking improvement in the surface trafficking of the rat version of the receptor (Lin et al 1998). Interestingly, the GnRHR C-terminus is highly variable between species, suggesting that this receptor region may have been subject to intense evolutionary selection pressure as a mechanism for controlling GnRHR expression and functionality (Ulloa-Aguirre et al 2006).

1.5.2 Domains preventing forward trafficking

Following the cloning of GABA_BR1 (Kaupmann et al 1997), it was widely recognized that the receptor was poorly-trafficked and largely non-functional when expressed in heterologous cells (Couve et al 1998). Truncations of the GABA_BR1 CT, or mutation of a specific CT motif (RSRR), were found to relieve ER retention of GABA_BR1 and allow for robust plasma membrane expression of the receptor (Calver et al 2001; Margeta-Mitrovic et al 2000; Pagano et al 2001). Interestingly, the critical RSRR motif on the GABA_BR1 CT is similar to ER retention motifs that have been identified on certain ion channels and other transmembrane proteins (Michelsen et al 2005). However, despite the improved trafficking of a truncated GABA_BR1, which had the RSRR motif deleted, the mutant receptor remained incompetent in G protein coupling unless it was co-expressed with a related receptor, GABA_BR2. This second subunit seems to be a required heterodimer partner of GABA_BR1 in order to achieve the formation of functional GABA_B receptors, a relationship that will be discussed in more detail later (Couve et al 2001; Margeta-Mitrovic et al 2001a; b; Pagano et al 2001).

Analogous to the removal of CT sequences from GABA_{B1}R, removal of NT sequences from GPCRs has in some cases proven to be effective in enhancing receptor surface expression. For example, truncation of 79 amino acids from the NT of the α_{1D} adrenergic receptor (α_{1D} -AR) was found to dramatically enhance expression of the receptor binding sites (Pupo et al 2003) and plasma membrane localization (Hague et al 2004a). In contrast, grafting the α_{1D} -AR NT onto the related α_{1A} -AR or α_{1B} -AR was found to markedly impair surface expression of these receptors in heterologous cells (Hague et al 2004a), suggesting that the α_{1D} -AR NT either possesses an ER retention motif or has difficulty in folding properly. Similar findings have been made for the CB1 cannabinoid receptor, for which it has been shown that truncations to the receptor's long NT are

capable of greatly enhancing receptor surface expression (Andersson et al 2003). It is possible that this truncation of the CB1-NT occurs endogenously in some cells to remove a possible retention motif, allowing CB1 to reach the plasma membrane and bind to ligands (Nordstrom & Andersson 2006). For both α_{1D} -AR and CB1, it has been shown that the NT truncations that enhance trafficking do not alter ligand binding (Andersson et al 2003; Hague et al 2004a), and that these truncated mutants are thus useful for achieving enhanced surface expression of functional receptors in heterologous cells.

1.5.2 Receptor-receptor interactions that assist in proper trafficking

Growing evidence of GPCR oligomerization is shifting the one-time belief that GPCRs exist and act purely as monomers (Prinster et al 2005). With some receptors, heterodimerization may be an artifact of overexpression in heterologous cells. In other cases, however, oligomerization can change the functionality of the receptor by changing the affinity of the ligand or switching the G-protein coupling of the receptor (Franco et al 2007). And as mentioned before, dimerization, or multimerization, can sometimes strongly modulate membrane-directed trafficking.

The first widely accepted example of the effect of heterodimerization on trafficking was the aforementioned GABA_BR pair (White et al 1998). As noted above, when GABA_{B1}R is expressed alone in most heterologous cell types, an ER retention motif prevents efficient receptor trafficking to the plasma membrane (Couve et al 1998; Margeta-Mitrovic et al 2000). However, co-expression of GABA_BR1 with GABA_BR2 results in a massive enhancement in GABA_BR1 surface expression (Marshall et al 1999; White et al 1998). One result of the heterodimerization is believed to be the masking of the aforementioned ER retention motif present on the GABA_BR1 CT (Margeta-Mitrovic et al 2000), providing an example of how deletion of a sequence and co-expression with an appropriate partner can sometimes enhance the surface targeting of a given GPCR via

a common mechanism. There is strong evidence that the interaction between GABA_BR1 and GABA_BR2 is also essential for GABA_BR1 trafficking *in vivo*, since the brains of GABA_BR2 knockout mice exhibit a striking redistribution of GABA_BR1 and substantial loss in GABA_B receptor functional activity (Gassmann et al 2004).

In addition to GABA_B receptors, there are a number of other GPCRs that have been found to exhibit enhanced surface expression in heterologous cells upon co-expression and association with other GPCRs (Prinster et al 2005). The AR family also presents a key example of heterodimerization. As previously mentioned, the α_{1D} -AR shows little to no functional activity when expressed alone in most heterologous cells (Chalothorn et al 2002; Hague et al 2004a; Hirasawa et al 1997; Theroux et al 1996). However, when α_{1D} -AR is co-expressed with α_{1B} -AR (Hague et al 2004c; Uberti et al 2003) or β_2 -AR (Uberti et al 2005), it heterodimerizes in a manner that strongly promotes α_{1D} -AR cell surface trafficking in heterologous cells. β_2 -AR endogenously expresses at low levels in HEK 293 cells, so it is likely that the slight cell surface expression and functioning observed in cells with α_{1D} -AR expressed alone is enabled via heterodimerization (Chalothorn et al 2002).

Olfactory receptors (ORs) make up the largest family of GPCRs in mammalian genomes. Despite that, characterization of their pharmacological and signaling properties has been restricted, because many remain orphans and most are unable to efficiently traffic to the cell surface when expressed in heterologous cells (Bush & Hall 2008). Mammalian olfaction begins at the plasma membrane of olfactory sensory neuron cilia to bind and activate GPCRs, so ORs must be at the cell surface for accurate functional analysis. Screens of non-OR GPCRs co-expressed with the poorly trafficked OR M71 have been performed to determine if heterodimerization can also assist in OR localization. Indeed, co-assembly of certain members of the adrenergic and purinergic receptor families with M71 can enhance its surface expression (Bush et al 2007; Hague et

al 2004b). M71 remained functional when coexpressed with β_2 -AR, inducing an increase in cAMP accumulation and co-internalization (Hague et al 2004b). In addition, when M71 associated with P2Y1 or P2Y2, the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway was activated via $G\alpha_{i/o}$ signaling, demonstrating that the G-protein coupling preferences of ORs can be malleable depending on OR interactions with other receptors (Bush et al 2007).

Other receptors that exhibit dimerization are in the taste receptor (TR) family. T1R1 and T1R2 were initially cloned and found to express in distinct taste bud regions, but neither were responsive to sweet stimuli when expressed alone in heterologous cells. However, a gene encoding a GPCR with extensive homology to both T1R1 and T1R2 was discovered. This new receptor T1R3 also could not be activated when expressed alone, but co-expression with T1R2 allowed for activation by sweet tastants and co-expression with T1R1 allowed for activation by umami tastes, e.g. amino acids (Prinster et al 2005). This enhanced functionality is believed to correlate with improved surface expression, although most of the work undertaken in this area so far has focused more on assessing changes in receptor activity and pharmacology following heterodimerization than on addressing any changes in receptor trafficking (Bachmanov & Beauchamp 2007). Evidence with the ORs, ARs, and GABARs, suggest that many other GPCRs may require dimerization, too, but have yet to be studied in that manner.

Just as hetero-oligomerization has proven to play a significant role in regulating the ER export and plasma membrane trafficking of some receptors, homodimerization may also play an important role in controlling GPCR trafficking. For example, studies on β_2 -AR homodimerization have revealed that this receptor likely requires homodimerization for its robust surface expression. Salahpour *et al.* compared β_2 -AR mutants that retained the capacity to dimerize to β_2 -AR mutants that could not dimerize

and observed that disruption of the putative dimerization motif of the receptor prevented normal surface trafficking (Salahpour et al 2004). It was also noted that dimerization of wt β_2 -AR with a β_2 -AR mutant lacking an ER-export motif or one harboring an ERretention signal inhibited trafficking of the wild-type receptor (Salahpour et al 2004). With previous reports that homodimerization likely occurs as early as during ER processing (Bouvier 2001), it seems probable that β_2 -AR, as well as a number of other GPCRs, need to homodimerize to properly traffic to the plasma membrane.

1.5.3 Associating proteins assist in proper trafficking

A variety of other protein interactions, beyond receptor-receptor associations, have also been identified as key regulators of GPCR trafficking. Some of these GPCRinteracting partners have been identified in genetic screens. One such example is the discovery of the cyclophilin-related protein Nina A, partnering with the Rhodopsin 1 receptor (Rh1) in the *Drosophila melanogaster*, for proper receptor folding and transport (Baker et al 1994; Shieh et al 1989). In flies lacking *nina A*, the gene encoding for the photo-receptor specific integral membrane glycoprotein, protein levels of Rh1 were reduced tenfold and binding activity was also significantly decreased (Shieh et al 1989). In addition, immaturely glycosylated Rh 1 accumulated in the ER of photoreceptor cells of these mutant flies, indicating the protein Nina A is required for Rh1 cell surface expression (Colley et al 1991). Subsequent work has revealed that RanBP2, the vertebrate homolog of Nina A, associates with vertebrate opsins to regulate their folding, trafficking and surface expression (Ferreira et al 1996).

Similarly, in screens for mutations that affect chemosensory signaling in *C. elegans*, the protein odorant response abnormal 4 (ODR-4) was identified and shown to associate with certain olfactory receptors (Dwyer et al 1998; Gimelbrant et al 2001). It is not known, however, if the vertebrate ortholog of ODR-4 plays a comparable role for any

vertebrate receptors (Lehman et al 2005). Other GPCR-interacting partners that promote receptor trafficking include GEC1, which promotes surface expression of mammalian κ -opioid (Chen et al 2006) and prostaglandin EP3 receptors (Chen et al 2009), RACK1, which enhances trafficking of thromboxane A₂ receptors (Parent et al 2008), Usp4, which increases plasma membrane expression of adenosine A_{2A} receptors (Milojevic et al 2006), ATBP50, which regulates the transport of angiotensin AT₂ receptor to the cell surface (Wruck et al 2004), and Drip78, which enhances angiotensin II AT₁ receptor expression on the cell surface (Leclerc et al 2002).

A variety of transmembrane proteins, including receptor activity modifying proteins (RAMPs), receptor transporting proteins (RTPs), receptor expression enhancing proteins (REEPs), melanocortin receptor accessory proteins (MRAPs), and the M10 family of major histocompatibility (MHC) proteins have been identified during the past decade as GPCR-interacting proteins that can also promote the surface expression of specific subsets of GPCRs. The RAMPs were first identified as key regulators of the trafficking and functionality of the calcitonin receptor-like receptor (CRLR), an orphan receptor that had proven difficult to study until the realization that associations with RAMPs were required for its efficient plasma membrane localization (McLatchie et al 1998). The three members of the RAMP family are now known to interact with several Class B GPCRs, as well as a Class C GPCR, the calcium-sensing receptor (Bouschet et al 2005), to influence receptor trafficking and pharmacology (Hay et al 2006). The RTP and REEP proteins were first identified in screens for proteins that enhance olfactory receptor functionality (Saito et al 2004). RTP1 and RTP2 are selectively expressed in the olfactory epithelium (Saito et al 2004), and their role in controlling OR trafficking have shed light on the underlying reasons why ORs are efficiently targeted to the plasma membrane in olfactory sensory neurons but not in heterologous cells. Other members of

the RTP and REEP families have wider tissue distribution patterns and have been shown to promote the surface expression in heterologous cells of T2R bitter taste receptors (Behrens et al 2006) and mu-delta opioid receptor heterodimers (Decaillot et al 2008). MRAP and MRAP2 have been shown to associate with the melanocortin 2 receptor (MC2R) and dramatically enhance surface expression of this receptor in a variety of cells (Hinkle & Sebag 2009; Metherell et al 2005; Roy et al 2007; Sebag & Hinkle 2009). Naturally-occurring mutations to MRAP cause defects in the trafficking and functionality of MC2R, resulting in an inherited disorder known as familial glucocorticoid deficiency type 2 (Metherell et al 2005). MRAPs also have been shown to associate with MC3R and MC4R to reduce the signaling activity and/or surface expression of these receptors (Chan et al 2009), so MRAP effects on receptor functionality appear to be receptor-specific. Finally, V2R vomeronasal receptors proved difficult to study in heterologous cells until the finding that co-expression and interactions with M10 MHC molecules and β_2 microglobulin were capable of dramatically enhancing V2R surface expression in heterologous cells (Loconto et al 2003).

The HSP70 heat shock protein Hsc70t is also viewed as a sort of escort for ORs. The HSP70 family is a group of molecular chaperones that interact and assist in correct folding of improperly folded proteins (Young et al 2003), and Hsc70t, constitutively expressed in the olfactory epithelium of humans and mice, has been observed to significantly increase the functional response of human OR 17-4 in HEK293 cells, suggesting higher levels of OR on the cell surface (Bush & Hall 2008; Neuhaus et al 2006).

1.5.4 GPCR trafficking defects in human disease

Clearly, GPCR localization at the plasma membrane is necessary, in most cases, for proper functioning and signaling of the receptor. Interestingly, a number of

naturally-occurring GPCR mutations have been identified that cause human disease by impairing normal receptor trafficking. Thus, there has been tremendous interest over the past few years in identifying small molecules that can bind to poorly-trafficked, disease-causing GPCRs with the aim to enhance the surface expression and functionality of these receptors. Such molecules are often referred to as "pharmacological chaperones," "pharmacochaperones" or "pharmacoperones" (Bernier et al 2004a; Conn et al 2007).

1.5.4.1 Vasopressin and Nephrogenic Diabetes Insipidus

NDI is a rare X-linked disease characterized by loss of anti-diuretic response to the hormone arginine-vasopressin, resulting in an inability to concentrate urine (Bernier et al 2004a; Morello & Bichet 2001; Tan et al 2004). If left untreated or unnoticed, as often is the case in infants, severe dehydration can occur, leading to growth retardation and mental retardation or death in the most extreme cases. Vasopressin V₂ receptors (V_2R_s) are found in the vascular endothelium and the principal cells of renal collecting and connecting tubules (Greenberg & Verbalis 2006). NDI has been linked to over 175 different mutations in V₂Rs, with the majority of these mutations causing V₂R to be retained in the ER and degraded (Bernier et al 2004a). Treatment of cells with certain membrane permeant V₂R antagonists SR121463 and VPA-985 has been shown to restore cell surface expression of ER-retained V_2R mutants (Bernier et al 2004b; Morello et al 2000; Robben et al 2007; Wuller et al 2004). These findings are believed to be due to binding of the antagonists to misfolded V₂R in the ER, resulting in the stabilization of receptor structure and trafficking of V_2R to the plasma membrane. Clinical studies have indeed provided proof-of-concept evidence that vasopressin receptor-targeted pharmacological chaperones can have beneficial effects in patients suffering from NDI (Bernier et al 2006).

1.5.4.2 Rhodopsin and Retinitis Pigmentosa

Retinitis Pigmentosa (RP) is another disease caused by mutations to a GPCR. Characterized by progressive photoreceptor degeneration and eventual retinal dysfunction, RP has been linked to a number of mutations in various gene products encoding nearly all of the components of the visual signaling pathway, including rhodopsin (Dejneka & Bennett 2001). Rhodopsin naturally exists in ordered, paracrystalline dimeric arrays at the cell surface where its signal transduction cascade is initiated by multiple electronic isomerizations of 11-cis-retinal attached to its GPCR, opsin (Fotiadis et al 2003; Liang et al 2003; Tan et al 2004). Mutations within the gene encoding rhodopsin are observed in one particular form of RP, autosomal dominant RP, and result in a mutated receptor molecule that is retained intracellularly with no 11-cisretinal binding. The majority of the gene mutations observed are rare, with the exception of the P23H Class III mutation, which constitutes ~10% of all autosomal dominant cases of RP (Dryja et al 1990; Garriga et al 1996; Sung et al 1991). P23H rhodopsin molecules are observed as aggregates, including when in complex with ER chaperones (Anukanth & Khorana 1994). However, P23H rhodopsin mutants can be rescued with the 11-*cis*-retinal analog, 11-*cis*-ring-retinal, which results in restoration of receptor surface expression (Noorwez et al 2003) in a manner that is analogous to the above-described rescue of V₂R by V₂R antagonists.

1.5.4.3 Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Receptor and Hypogonadic Hypogonadism

GnRHR is activated by GnRH, which is secreted from the hypothalamus to induce hormonal gonadotropin synthesis and is also released from the pituitary gland gonadotropes to trigger the sexual organs to release additional hormones responsible for proper sexual development. Disruption in this hormonal pathway results in sexual dysfunction and can impair sexual maturation (Tan et al 2004), as observed in hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. Mutations to GnRHR can result in misfolded receptors with an increased predisposition to be targeted for degradation or intracellular retention, resulting in HH. As in the above-described cases of pharmacological chaperones for V_2R and rhodopsin, selective non-peptidic GnRHR antagonists have been found to be capable of rescuing surface expression and signaling activity in the majority of mutant GnRHRs (Bernier et al 2004a; Janovick et al 2003; Janovick et al 2002; Leanos-Miranda et al 2002; Ulloa-Aguirre et al 2003).

1.5.5 Trafficking of orphan GPCRs

Many orphan GPCRs have also been observed to exhibit similar problems with trafficking *in vivo*, and a handful of these orphans have been characterized well enough to show that their trafficking can also be aided by some of the same techniques described above. For instance, bilateral frontoparietal polymicrogyria (BFPP) is linked to mutations in the orphan receptor GPR56. GPR56 is an adhesion GPCR that exhibits selective expression in hematopoietic stem cells and neural progenitors, revealing a potentially important role in multipotent cell identity and tissue development (Guerrini & Marini 2006; Jin et al 2007). GPR56 was also the first gene implicated in the development of BFPP, a malformation of cortical development in which the brain surface is irregular and normal gyral pattern is replaced by excessive number of small and partly fused gyri separated by shallow sulci (Jansen & Andermann 2005). Global developmental delay, a dysconjugate gaze (esotropica), language impairment, severe epilepsy and mental retardation are all characteristic of BFPP patients. Many different mutations of GPR56 have been linked to BFPP, most of which cause improper trafficking of the receptor and ER retention. Although no ligands have been identified for GPR56, treatments with thapsigargin, an ER calcium pump inhibitor that depletes ER calcium

stores, allowing for ER export, or 4-phenylbutyrate (4-PBA), which reduces mRNA and protein levels of heat shock protein Hsc70, were both able to rescue cell surface expression of GPR56 (Jin et al 2007). These types of treatment are likely successful due to a global disruption of ER function as opposed to specific assistance of a particular receptor's trafficking, but nonetheless, such approaches can still be utilized to study the signaling of trafficking-defective receptors.

Another orphan receptor exhibiting poor surface expression in heterologous cells is GPRC6A (Wellendorph & Brauner-Osborne 2004; Wellendorph et al 2005). An RKR motif, similar to that seen in GABA_BR1, was identified seven amino acids upstream of the CT of GPRC6A. However, unlike GABA_BR1, mutation of the motif to all alanines had no effect on GPRC6A cell surface expression. Given the receptor's similarity to metabotropic glutamate receptors and GABA_BRs, it has been thought that the NT of GPRC6A is most likely the receptor's primary site of ligand binding. In addition, GPRC6A is very similar to a goldfish receptor known as 5.24, which happens to be trafficked well to the plasma membrane in heterologous cells. Thus, a chimera was created in which the NT GPRC6A was fused to the TM and CT regions of 5.24 (Wellendorph et al 2005). This mutant receptor exhibited efficient trafficking to the plasma membrane, allowing for the identification of positively-charged amino acids, such as arginine, as putative ligands for GPRC6A (Wellendorph et al 2005).

1.6 Parkin-Associated Endothelin-Like Receptor (PAEL-R)/GPR37
1.6.1 Endothelin-Like

GPR37, also known as the Parkin-associated Endothelin-Like Receptor (Pael-R), was first cloned by Zeng et al. in 1997 and termed ET_BR-LP (endothelin type B receptor-like protein) due to its significant homology, 52% similarity, to the ET_BR (Zeng et al 1997). Like ET_BR , the newly cloned receptor had a large extracellular N-terminal domain and a short third cytoplasmic domain of less than 30 amino acid residues. Northern blot analysis revealed highest expression of GPR37 in the human brain—found in all regions of the brain examined but highest in the corpus callosum and substantia nigra—but also low levels of expression in the human placenta, liver and testis (Marazziti et al 1998; Zeng et al 1997). Though expressed highest in oligodendrocytes, GPR37 localization was also well-documented in neurons of both substantia nigra and hippocampus (Imai et al 2001; Marazziti et al 2004; Marazziti et al 2007). Unfortunately, despite its homology with ET_BR and other related receptors (Figure I-2), further characterization revealed that GPR37 bound to neither endothelins nor other similar peptides like bombesin and neuropeptide Y when expressed in heterologous cells (Valdenaire et al 1998; Zeng et al 1997).

Soon after GPR37 was cloned, a receptor sharing approximately 68% overall homology with GPR37 was isolated (Valdenaire et al 1998) and later dubbed GPR37-Like 1, or GPR37L1. Similar to GPR37, GPR37L1 is also expressed widely throughout the brain, but unlike GPR37, which was reported to be expressed in neurons and oligodendrocytes (Imai et al 2001; Zeng et al 1997), high levels of transcripts of GPR37L1 were detected mainly in astrocytes (Valdenaire et al 1998). The transmembrane domains of GPR37 and GPR37L1 are highly homologous, but their sequences diverge in their N- and C- termini (Leng et al 1999; Valdenaire et al 1998). As with GPR37, the endothelins, bombesin and similar peptides were tested as possible ligands for GPR37L1,

Figure I-2. GPCR phylogenetic tree. This tree, adapted from Leng et al. (Leng et al 1999), is derived from comparison of the endothelin receptors (ET_AR, ET_BR, ET_CR), bombesin receptors (GRPR, NMBR, BRS₃R, BB₄R), and GPR₃₇ and GPR₃₇L1.



but similar to GPR37, there was no detectable activation of GPR37L1 by these peptides (Valdenaire et al 1998).

1.6.2 Parkinson's disease and the Parkin-Associated Receptor GPR37

After Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder, affecting approximately 4 million people worldwide (Fitzgerald & Plun-Favreau 2008). Neuropathologically, PD is characterized by progressive degeneration of DA neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta and by the presence of abnormal aggregates of protein known as Lewy bodies, which develop inside of these neurons. The etiology of PD remains unknown, but evidence indicates a connection to mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress (Beal 2003; Jenner & Olanow 1996; Kosel et al 1999; Zhang et al 2000).

The loss of DA neurons and the disruption of the entire DA system results in gradual, progressive loss of movement control, producing symptoms such as resting tremor, bradykinesia, postural instability and rigidity. Other common PD-related symptoms are disturbances in the patient's gait and posture, speech and swallowing difficulties, as well as insomnia, dementia, dizziness, and akathisia, or the inability to sit still. The average onset of the most common form of PD is generally between 60 and 80 years of age, with incidence increasing from ~1% at age 65 to ~4-5% in those at least 85 years old (Giasson & Lee 2001). This form of PD is referred to as sporadic or idiopathic PD and has been relatively enigmatic due in part to the lack of a biologic marker available to use for diagnostic purposes. In fact, until about 2001, autopsy studies indicated that the final diagnosis of PD had been incorrect about one-fourth of the time.

In recent years, advances in understanding the more rare familial forms of PD have provided new insights about the disease. Familial forms of PD are linked to disease-related hereditary mutations. These account for between 5-15% of PD cases and typically have an onset below the age of 40 (Dawson & Dawson 2003; Mochizuki 2009; Schulz 2008). They can be due to autosomal dominant point mutations or gene duplications/triplications in the α -synuclein gene, and/or point mutations in the ubiquitin-C-terminal hydrolase-L1 and the leucine-rich repeat kinase genes. They also can be triggered by autosomal recessive mutations of the aforementioned gene parkin, as well as PINK1, DJ-1, and a specific ATPase gene (Schulz 2008). Parkin mutations actually account for about 50% of individuals with AR-JP and over 75% of sporadic cases in which disease onset occurs before 20 years of age (Fitzgerald & Plun-Favreau 2008).

There currently is no cure for the characteristic progressive neurodegeneration of PD, but by gaining an understanding of these identified mutations in the familial forms of the disease, and discovering yet to be identified genetically-linked mutations, further insight can be gained into treating the neuropathology of PD. One potential treatment stemming from such research is to administer an overabundance of parkin via gene therapy (Mochizuki 2009; Ulusoy & Kirik 2008).

PD has been associated with increased ER stress. Mimetics of PD specifically induce ER stress in neuronal cells (Holtz & O'Malley 2003), and expression of certain ER chaperones are up-regulated in the brain of PD patients (Conn et al 2004). In addition, two genes that are mutated in certain cases of PD, parkin and ubiquitin C-terminal esterase L1 (UCH-L1), are both involved in ER-associated degradation. UCH-L1 is a protein in neurons that can stabilize a monomeric ubiquitin to ubiquitinate unfolded proteins, targeting them for degradation (Osaka et al 2003). Parkin is an E3 ubiquitin ligase, equipped with an ubiquitin-like domain at its NT, and its main cellular role is

believed to also be ubiquitination of proteins. Interestingly, parkin expression is increased when the cell is experiencing ER stress, and healthy neuronal cells overexpressing parkin are resistant to such stress (Malhotra & Kaufman 2007). However, a variety of both homozygous and heterozygous mutations can cause rearrangements and missense mutations in the parkin gene. Such mutations are commonly observed in post-mortem brain tissue of patients with autosomal recessive juvenile Parkinson's disease (AR-JP), leading to impaired binding of parkin to putative substrates or inactive ligase activity, which results in dysfunction of the ubiquitin proteasomal pathway, reducing or eliminating the resistance to ER stress (Yang et al 2009).

GPR37 was dubbed 'parkin-associated' upon the identification of its role as an interacting partner of parkin (Imai et al 2001). When GPR37 is expressed in heterologous cells, it has difficulty folding and trafficking properly: it is found aggregated in both the cytoplasm and the ER and exists in an ubiquitinated, insoluble form due to its misfolded state (Imai et al 2001). It has been observed that an overexpression of GPR37 alone induces ER stress and dopaminergic (DA) cell death, a fate that can be alleviated via parkin overexpression (Yang et al 2003). When parkin is mutated and cannot properly target GPR37 for degradation, ER stress is induced, thereby suggesting a role for GPR37 in the pathology of AR-JP (Imai et al 2007).

Murakami et al reported the presence of GPR37 in the core of Lewy bodies (Murakami et al 2004). Parkin is often seen associated with these protein inclusions, but it is generally localized around their 'halo' and not necessarily involved in their development. This finding, then, is indicative of a possible non-parkin-related role of GPR37 in PD, perhaps linking GPR37 to the pathology of both sporadic and familial forms.

Further connections between GPR37 and PD may be derived from studies revealing that GPR37 KO mice exhibit an increased resistance to MPTP-induced toxicity, a commonly used animal model of PD (Marazziti et al 2004). Moreover, GPR37 transgenic (Tg) mice exhibit an enhanced susceptibility to such MPTP-induced toxicity (Imai et al 2007), as do *Drosophila* genetically-engineered to express mutated parkin (Pesah et al 2004) as well as rats overexpressing GPR37 (Dusonchet et al 2009). Though this may not be a direct correlation between GPR37, parkin and PD, MPTP *is* used to induce PD-like symptoms and behaviors in animals for PD research because: 1) it acts by killing certain neurons in the substantia nigra and 2) MPTP-induced pathology can be treated with the use of Levodopa, a drug used for reducing symptoms in human PD patients (Langston & Ballard 1984; Langston et al 1984a; Langston et al 1984c).

To get a better grasp on the relationship of GPR37 and parkin, Wang *et al.* made double-mutant mice by crossbreeding parkin KO mice with GPR37 Tg mice. They reported that these mice exhibit ER stress as well as early and progressive loss of DA neurons without the formation of Lewy body-like inclusions, similar to the pathological characteristics of AR-JP patients (Wang et al 2008). It was also reported that there was significant DA cell loss after only 12 months in the double mutant mice, as opposed to 18 months in the GPR37 Tg mice, further suggesting the potential importance of the interplay between parkin and GPR37 in PD pathology.

1.7 Overall Hypothesis

Given the utility of GPCRs as drug targets, and the possible role that GPR37 plays in a devastating disease such as PD, it is important to determine the normal physiological roles of GPR37, as well as how GPR37 may be targeted in disease states such as PD. The aim of this work is to provide more insight into the basic roles that GPR37 plays in cellular physiology by studying its cellular trafficking and signaling properties. To do this, we first sought out to develop methods to express GPR37 more efficiently at the cell surface. Since this receptor has very poor plasma membrane expression in heterologous cell lines, we wanted to determine why it was retained intracellularly and what might be done to reverse that effect. We demonstrate here the key role played by the receptor's NT in controlling GPR37 cell surface trafficking and how this information can be used to develop tools for studying GPR37 in heterologous cells.

Additionally, recent reports of heterodimers and multimers indicate the importance of interacting partners in GPCR functionality and signaling. In an effort to express full-length GPR37 at the cell surface, and also to understand more about its pharmacology, we studied the trafficking of GPR37 when co-expressed with a number of other GPCRs. We reveal here an interaction of GPR37 with D₂R and demonstrate how that interaction influences both GPR37 trafficking and D₂R ligand binding. We propose that the findings we report here have the potential to be used in developing novel pharmacological treatments targeted at the DA system. Finally, we also report here a novel interaction between GPR37 and the scaffold protein syntenin-1, which results in a dramatic increase in GPR37 surface expression in heterologous cells. As a whole, these findings provide additional methods and tools with which to study GPR37. These tools will assist in the further characterization and eventual deorphanization of GPR37, as well as in the development of therapeutics that may target GPR37 directly.

CHAPTER II: Structural Determinants Controlling Surface

Trafficking of GPR37

2.1 Introduction

A major stumbling block impeding progress in understanding the ligand binding and signaling of GPR37 is its poor trafficking to the cell surface in most heterologous cell lines. Other GPCRs that exhibit trafficking defects in heterologous cells, including α_{1D} -AR (Hague et al 2004a; Hague et al 2004c; Pupo et al 2003; Uberti et al 2003), GABA_BR1 (Calver et al 2001; Couve et al 1998; Margeta-Mitrovic et al 2000; Margeta-Mitrovic et al 1999; Pagano et al 2001), and the cannabinoid CB1 receptor (Andersson et al 2003) share significant homology with receptors that do exhibit robust surface expression. They also have been shown to more efficiently traffic following truncation of either the receptor's NT or CT regions. GPR37L1 shares 68% homology and 48% identity with GPR37 and, similar to GPR37, is abundantly expressed in the brain (Leng et al 1999; Valdenaire et al 1998). However, like GPR37, none of the peptides tested thus far, including the endothelins, bombesin and neuropeptide Y, have produced activation of any signaling pathways in heterologous cells or *Xenopus* oocytes expressing GPR37L1 (Valdenaire et al 1998). The main identified difference between the two receptors is the diverging sequences in their CT and NT. Thus, we created truncated forms of GPR37 to shed light on the structural determinants of GPR37 that influence its plasma membrane expression. It was our hope that by creating a mutant that *does* traffic well to the cell surface, we could then express it heterologously and use it as a tool to better characterize and eventually deorphanize GPR37.

2.2 Experimental Procedures

Materials. Materials were obtained from the following sources: human embryonic kidney (HEK293) cells, ATCC (Manassas, VA); GPR37, Guthrie Research Institute (Sayre, PA); FLAG-GPR37L1, Multispan (Hayward, CA); Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM), Lipofectamine 2000, precast 4-20% Tris-Glycine gels, AlexaFluor 488 and 800 goat-anti-mouse antibodies, Alexa Fluor 546 and 700 goat-anti-rabbit antibodies, Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA); anti-FLAG M2 monoclonal antibody, forskolin, isoproterenol, and cAMP, Sigma (St. Louis, MO); ECL[™] Anti-mouse IgG, Horseradish Peroxidase-linked whole antibody, [3H]-cAMP, GE Healthcare (Buckhinghamshire, UK); anti-Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase antibody, Upstate/Millipore (Billerica, MA); bovine serum albumin (BSA), penicillin-streptomycin solution, Fisher (Herndon, VA); fetal bovine serum (FBS), Atlanta Biologicals (Atlanta, GA); QuikChange XL site-directed mutagenesis kit, Stratagene (Cedar Creek, TX); SuperSignal Elisa Pico ECL reagent, Pierce (Rockford, IL); nitrocellulose membranes, Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA); DAPI, AppliChem (Ottoweg, Darmstadt, Germany); head activator neuropeptide, Phoenix Pharmaceuticals (Belmont, CA) and Bachem AG (Bubendorf, Switzerland); p44/42 MAPK (ERK1/2) rabbit antibody and immobilized phsopho-p44/42 MAPK (ERK1/2) mouse antibody, Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA); [³H]-adenine, [³H]-adenosine, American Radiolabeled Chemicals, Inc. (St. Louis, MO).

Cell culture and transfection. HEK293 cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, and 1% penicillin-streptomycin solution at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Cells in 10-cm tissue culture dishes at a confluency of 50-60% were transfected

with 1-3 µg of cDNA mixed with 15 µl Lipofectamine 2000 in 5ml of serum-free medium. Following a 4-5 hr incubation, complete medium was added to stop the transfection. The cDNAs used were FLAG-GPR37 in pCMV2b, FLAG-GPR37L1 in pMEX, Δ CT-GPR37, Δ^{1-35} , Δ^{1-70} , Δ^{1-105} , Δ^{1-140} , Δ^{1-175} , Δ^{1-210} , and Δ NT-FLAG-GPR37 in pCMV2b, untagged GPR37 in pCMV2b, and empty pCMV2b vector. All cDNAs used were human.

Cell-surface luminometer-based assay. HEK293 cells transiently transfected with FLAG-tagged or untagged constructs were split into poly D-lysine-coated 35-mm dishes and grown overnight at 37° C. For internalization assays, ligand was added into incomplete media and placed on cells for a 30-60 min incubation at 37° C. The cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS + Ca²⁺), fixed 30 min with 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA), and washed with PBS + Ca²⁺ again. The cells were then incubated in blocking buffer (2% nonfat dry milk in PBS, pH 7.4) for 30 minutes at room temperature (RT), followed by RT incubation with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated M2-anti-FLAG antibody (1:1000) in blocking buffer for 1 h. The cells were washed twice with blocking buffer, washed once with PBS + Ca²⁺, and incubated with SuperSignal Pico ECL reagent for 15 s. Luminescence of the entire 35-mm dish was determined using a TD20/20 luminometer (Turner Designs).

Flow cytometry. HEK293 cells that had been transiently transfected were split into poly D-lysine-coated 35-mm dishes and grown overnight at 37°C. The cells were transferred to ice, washed with PBS + Ca²⁺ once and incubated with M2 anti-FLAG antibody (1:300) in 1% BSA for 1 hour. Then the cells were washed once and incubated in the dark with Alexa Fluor 488 anti-mouse antibody (1:500) in 1% BSA for 1 hour. Again the cells were washed once, incubated for 15 minutes with 10mM Tris, 5mM

EDTA, shaken loose, and transferred to tubes containing equal volume 4% PFA. Samples were spun down, supernatant aspirated, and resuspended in 250 µl 1%BSA. Flow cytometric acquisition and analysis were performed on at least 10,000 acquired events on an LSR II flow cytometer driven by FACSDiva software (BD Biosciences). Data analysis was performed using FlowJo software (Tree Star).

Mutagenesis. Six forward primers and one reverse primer were designed to make sequential truncations. Truncated constructs were generated via PCR using those primers and a cDNA corresponding to full-length GPR37. The PCR products were digested with BamHI and EcoRI and inserted into previously digested pCMV-2B, containing an N-terminal FLAG epitope.

New forward and reverse primers were designed to make mutations of the Nterminal of GPR37, generated from cDNA of Δ^{1-175} GPR37 containing an N-terminal FLAG epitope in the mammalian expression plasmid pCMV-2B using the QuikChange Site-Directed Mutagenesis kit. All sequences of truncated and mutated receptor were confirmed by sequence analysis (Agencourt, Beverly, MA).

Western blotting. Samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE on 4-20% Tris-Glycine gels, followed by transfer to nitrocellulose membranes. The membranes were incubated in blocking buffer (2% nonfat dry milk, 50mM NaCl, 20mM HEPES, 0.1% Tween 20) for 30 min and then incubated with primary antibody for either 1 h at RT or overnight at 4°C. Next, the membranes were washed three times in blocking buffer and incubated with either a fluorescent- or HRP-conjugated secondary antibody for 30 min, washed three times more, and finally visualized using the Odyssey imaging system (Li-Cor) or via ECL reagent followed by exposure to film.

Confocal microscopy. Cells transiently transfected with FLAG-tagged constructs were grown on poly-D-lysine coated glass slides. The cells were rinsed with PBS + Ca²⁺, fixed with 2% PFA at RT, and washed 3 times with PBS + Ca²⁺. Fixed cells were permeabliized and blocked by incubating 30 min at RT in saponin buffer (1% BSA, 0.08% saponin, PBS + Ca²⁺). Next, the cells were washed 3 times and incubated with rabbit anti-FLAG antibody (1:1000) and mouse anti-Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase (1:500) in 1% BSA at 37° C for 1 hr. After two times washing with PBS + Ca²⁺, cells were incubated in the dark with Alexa Fluor anti-mouse 488 and anti-rabbit 546 antibodies (1:250) in 1% BSA for 1 hr at RT. Cells were washed 2 times more for 5 min with PBS + Ca²⁺, DAPI-stained for 10 min, rinsed twice with water, and mounted with Vectashield mounting medium. Cells were examined using a Zeiss LSM 510 laser scanning confocal microscope.

ERK activation assays. HEK293 cells transiently transfected with FLAG-tagged constructs were split into poly D-lysine-coated 35-mm dishes and grown overnight at 37°C. Twenty-four hours later, they were starved in serum-free minimum essential medium overnight. To stimulate cells, 3 nM head activator peptide was added directly to the starvation medium for 2, 5, or 10 min at 37 °C. Stimulation with FBS (1%) was performed for 2 min as a positive control. At the end of the stimulation, the medium was removed, and 80 μ l of sample buffer was added. The samples were sonicated, heated to 85 °C for 5 min, and centrifuged briefly at 17,000 x *g*. The proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE, as described above, and extracellular regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK 1/2) was visualized using monoclonal anti-phospho p42/44 and rabbit anti-p42/44 antibodies (1:1000; Cell Signaling) to blot for phosphorylated and total mitogen-activated ERK 1/2, respectively. Fluorescence-conjugated anti-mouse and anti-rabbit secondary signals

(1:10,000; Rockland) were detected using the Odyssey imaging system, and band densities were quantified using Odyssey imaging software (Li-Cor).

cAMP assays. Transiently-transfected HEK293 cells were split into 24 well plates 24 h before experimentation. Because HEK293 cells do not easily take up [3 H]-adenine, [3 H]-adenosine was used to prelabel cells. Cells were prelabeled with 1 ml of incomplete media containing 1 µCi of [3 H]-adenosine for 2 hours. Cells were then washed with TBMX buffer [Na-Elliot's buffer (137mM NaCl, 5mM KCl, 1.2 mM MgCl₂, 0.44mM KH₂PO₄, 4.2mMNaHCO₃, 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4], 10mM CaCl₂, 100mM glucose, and IBMX) and treated with 100 nM HA and/or 10 µM forskolin/isoproteronol for 10 minutes. Reactions were stopped by addition of 77% trichloroacetic acid. A 50 µl aliquot of 10 mM cAMP was added as a carrier, and plates were spun for 10 min at 2,500 rpm. The [3 H]-cAMP that was formed was isolated by sequential Dowex and alumina chromatography. Eluants from alumina columns were collected, 5 ml of scintillation fluid was added, and [3 H]-cAMP was quantified by using a liquid scintillation counter.

Statistical analysis. All statistical analyses were carried out using Graph Pad Prism software (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 GPR37L1 exhibits robust cell surface expression but GPR37 does not.

Plasma membrane trafficking of GPR37 (Fig II-1A) and GPR37L1 (Fig II-1B) was assessed using three independent techniques: a quantitative luminometer-based surface expression assay, FACS analysis, and confocal microscopy. To be sure the surface expression of the receptors was the same across cell lines, we repeated many of these assays in CHO and Cos-7 cell lines and found similar results (data not shown). In the luminometer-based assay, we observed very little plasma membrane expression of GPR37, consistent with previous reports (Imai et al 2001; Rezgaoui et al 2006; Yang et al 2005). In contrast, GPR37L1 was robustly trafficked to the plasma membrane (Fig II-1C). FACS analysis confirmed that GPR37L1 was highly expressed on the cell surface, whereas GPR37 expression was barely detectable (Fig II-1D) despite comparable levels of Western blot staining for the two receptors (data not shown). To confirm these findings via a third independent technique, confocal microscopy studies were performed using the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase as a plasma membrane marker. Mainly punctate intracellular staining was observed for GPR37 (Fig II-1E), whereas GPR37L1 was predominantly localized at the plasma membrane (Fig II-1F). MATLAB analysis of the images revealed that approximately 42% of the overall transfected GPR37L1 exhibited cell surface expression, whereas the cell surface expression for wt GPR37 was undetectable by these methods (<1%). Thus, despite the high degree of sequence similarity between the two receptors, GPR37L1 exhibited robust surface expression in our studies whereas GPR37 poorly trafficked to the plasma membrane.

Figure II-1. GPR37L1 exhibits robust cell surface expression as compared to GPR37. FLAG-tagged constructs corresponding to GPR37 (A) and GPR37L1 (B) were transiently transfected into HEK293 cells. Cell surface expression was determined using a luminometer-based assay (C) and via flow cytometry (D). Values are expressed as mean fold surface expression over empty vector \pm S.E.M. Unpaired *t* tests were used to determine statistical significance (*n*= 23 & 3, respectively; *, *p* < 0.05; **, *p* < 0.005). Confocal imaging of cells transfected with wt GPR37 (E) or GPR37L1 (F) was done using mouse anti-Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, followed by Alexa-Fluor 488, to mark the cell surface (green, left panels), rabbit anti-FLAG, followed by Alexa-Fluor 546, to detect the receptors (red, center panels), and DAPI to stain the nucleus (blue, right panels). Yellow indicates colocalization of receptor with plasma membrane (E&F, right panels).











Е



В

2.3.2 N-terminal truncation of GPR37 increases plasma membrane expression.

Given the striking difference in plasma membrane expression between GPR37 and GPR37L1, we next focused on determining which region of these related receptors might account for this difference. Since GPR37 and GPR37L1 are most divergent from each other at their N- and C- termini, we created two N-terminally FLAG-tagged constructs of GPR37 – one in which 255 N-terminal amino acids were deleted (Δ NT-GPR37; Fig II-2A), and a second in which 58 C-terminal amino acids were deleted (Δ CT-GPR37; Fig II-2B). In the luminometer-based assay, the surface expression of Δ CT-GPR37 was observed to be equivalent to full-length GPR37, hereafter identified as wildtype GPR37 (wt GPR37). However, the Δ NT-GPR37 mutant exhibited a striking increase in surface expression relative to either of the other two constructs (Fig II-2C). These findings were confirmed in flow cytometry experiments (Fig II-2D), as well as with confocal microscopy, in which Δ CT-GPR37 exhibited similar intracellular distribution to wt GPR37 (Fig II-2E), while Δ NT-GPR37 was predominantly associated with the plasma membrane (Fig II-F). Again, MATLAB analysis confirmed the qualitative observations, with about 38% of transfected Δ NT-GPR37 expressing at the cell surface.

2.3.3 Structural determinants on the GPR37 N-terminus control receptor surface expression.

The results with the Δ NT-GPR37 mutant suggested that a motif on the GPR37 NT is a critical determinant of the proper folding and plasma membrane localization of GPR37. To determine the location and sequence of this potential motif, we generated 6 sequentially truncated constructs of GPR37– Δ^{1-35} , Δ^{1-70} , Δ^{1-105} , Δ^{1-140} , Δ^{1-175} , and Δ^{1-210} – **Figure II-2.** N-terminal truncation of GPR37 enhances plasma membrane expression. Constructs corresponding to N-terminal truncation (*A*) and C-terminal truncation (*B*) of GPR37 were prepared with N-terminal FLAG tags. HEK293 cells were transiently transfected with wt GPR37, Δ NT GPR37, and Δ CT GPR37. Surface expression was detected using a luminometer-based assay (C) and via flow cytometry (D). Values are expressed as mean fold over empty vector ± S.E.M. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test was used to determine statistical significance (*n*= 3-6; *, *p* < 0.05; ***, *p* < 0.0001). Confocal imaging of cells transfected with Δ CT GPR37 (E) or Δ NT GPR37 (F) was done using mouse anti-Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, followed by Alexa-Fluor 488, to mark the cell surface (green, left panels), rabbit anti-FLAG, followed by Alexa-Fluor 546, to detect the receptors (red, center panels), and DAPI to stain the nucleus (blue, right panels). Yellow indicates colocalization of receptor with plasma membrane (E&F, right panels).





С



E

F



removing 35 more amino acids from the NT in each additional construct (Fig II-3A). Evaluation of the surface expression of these constructs was performed using the luminometer-based assay. As shown in Fig II-3B, very little surface expression was observed in the first 4 mutants, and the Δ^{1-175} mutant exhibited only a slight increase over wt GPR37. However, the Δ^{1-210} mutant exhibited a robust enhancement in surface expression, similar to that of Δ NT-GPR37. Confocal images revealing colocalization between Δ^{1-210} GPR37 and the plasma membrane confirmed the findings from the luminometer experiments (Fig II-3C); analysis of the images using MATLAB revealed that approximately 25% of the overall transfected Δ^{1-210} exhibited cell surface expression.

2.3.4 Plasma membrane expression of GPR37 does not seem to be influenced by individual N-terminal amino acids.

Based on these findings, we hypothesized that a motif was present within the 35amino acid section between 175 and 210 of GPR37 that strongly influenced trafficking of the full-length receptor. Using site-directed mutagenesis, a panel of 12 mutants, each with unique sets of 3 consecutive amino acids mutated to alanine, was created to investigate the significance of the various residues between amino acids 175 and 210 on the GPR37 NT. However, when compared to Δ^{1-175} GPR37, we did not observe enhanced cell surface expression with any of the mutated constructs (Fig II-4).

2.3.5 Head Activator does not detectably activate wt GPR37, Δ NT GPR37, Δ^{1-210} GPR37, or GPR37L1.

The *Hydra* peptide head activator (HA) has been reported to be a ligand that activates and induces internalization of GPR37 (Rezgaoui et al 2006), so we examined whether this peptide could activate wt GPR37 or the truncated GPR37 mutants that Figure II-3. Structural determinants on the GPR37 N-terminus control receptor surface expression. (A) Representative Western blot of N-terminal truncated constructs. HEK293 cells expressing empty pCMV2b vector, wt GPR37, Δ^{1-35} , Δ^{1-70} , Δ^{1-105} , Δ^{1-140} , Δ^{1-175} , Δ^{1-210} , and Δ NT-GPR37 were harvested, run on an SDS-PAGE gels, transferred and blotted with anti-FLAG antibody. The monomeric species of interest is indicated with a red asterisk to the left of each band. Larger molecular weight species represent aggregated receptor, as is often seen for GPR37. (B) Surface expression of these receptors was determined using a luminometer-based assay. Values are expressed as mean fold increase over wt GPR37 ± S.E.M. One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test was used to determine statistical significance. (n=5; *, p <0.05; **, p < 0.01) (C) Confocal imaging of HEK-293 cells Δ^{1-210} GPR37 was done using mouse anti-Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, followed by Alexa-Fluor 488, to mark the cell surface (green, left panel), rabbit anti-FLAG, followed by Alexa-Fluor 546, to detect the receptors (red, center panel), and DAPI to stain the nucleus (blue, right panel). Yellow indicates colocalization of receptor with plasma membrane (C, right panel).



Figure II-4. Point mutations created between amino acids 175 and 210 exhibit no effect on GPR37 surface expression. HEK293 cells were transiently transfected with empty vector, wt GPR37, 12 mutant GPR37 constructs with mutations between amino acids 175-210, Δ^{1-175} , and Δ^{1-210} and surface expression was measured using a luminometer-based assay. Values are expressed as mean ± SEM for fold increase over Δ^{1-175} GPR37. One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test was used to determine statistical significance. (*n*= 4; *, *p* < 0.05)



exhibit superior surface expression. HEK293 cells transfected with wt GPR37, Δ NT, or Δ^{1-210} were treated with 3 nM HA for 20 minutes, and luminometer-based surface assays were preformed to measure agonist-induced receptor internalization. Neither wt GPR37 nor the well-expressed Δ NT mutant exhibited any significant change in surface expression upon HA stimulation (data not shown). In further studies, we also increased the concentration of HA, used HA from two different sources, and used the potentially more active monomeric form of HA, but despite the changes in parameters, we again saw no evidence of agonist-induced internalization upon stimulation with HA (Fig II-5*A*).

HA stimulation of GPR37 reportedly induces receptor coupling to a pertussistoxin sensitive G protein, indicating that HA may promote GPR37 coupling to G α_i or G α_o (Rezgaoui et al 2006). To assess this possibility, we measured stimulation of ERK1/2 phosphorylation in GPR37-transfected HEK293 cells. Activation of G α_i /G α_o -coupled GPCRs in HEK293 cells typically induces robust phosphorylation of ERK (Luttrell 2005). However, in comparison to cells transfected with empty vector, HA stimulation did not produce any effect on ERK1/2 phosphorylation in cells expressing wt GPR37 or Δ NT GPR37 (Fig II-5B). We also studied inhibition of adenylyl cyclase (AC) activity by stimulating transfected cells with forskolin and/or isoproteronol, in the presence or absence of HA. Again we were unable to discern an inhibition of cAMP following HA treatment (Fig II-5C). Likewise, Ca²⁺ mobilization assays revealed no evidence of GPR37-mediated calcium transients induced by HA (data not shown). Figure II-5. Head activator does not stimulate GPR37 internalization or signaling. HEK293 cells were transiently transfected with wt GPR37, Δ NT GPR37, Δ^{1-} ²¹⁰ GPR37 or GPR37L1. Prior to fixing, cells were treated with 10 µM HA for 20 minutes. Surface expression with and without either form of HA treatment was determined using a luminometer-based assay (A). Values are expressed as mean fold over untreated ± S.E.M. (*n*=3) ("*Mono*." indicates the monomerized form of HA) ERK activation was measured in cells treated with 3nM HA for 2-10 minutes (B). Values are expressed as mean fold over basal (untreated) ± S.E.M. (*n*=3). Inhibition of cAMP production was measured in cells treated with 1 µM monomerized HA, 100 nM HA and/or 10 µM forskolin/isoproteronol (C). Values are expressed as mean ± S.E.M. for fold over basal cAMP (*n*=4).



2.4 Discussion

Most GPCRs must reach the plasma membrane in order to achieve proper functional activity. Thus, the identification of ligands for orphan GPCRs can be greatly impeded if the receptors exhibit trafficking defects when expressed in heterologous cells. For this reason, we sought to find ways to enhance surface trafficking of GPR37, an orphan receptor that is well-known to suffer from trafficking defects upon heterologous expression (Imai et al 2001; Rezgaoui et al 2006; Yang et al 2003). In the studies shown in this chapter, we have identified one approach by which GPR37 trafficking to the plasma membrane can be enhanced: truncation of the receptor's N-terminus.

The effects of truncating the GPR37 N-terminus are similar to the effects of Nterminal truncations on the surface trafficking of the α_{1D} -adrenergic receptor (Hague et al 2004a) and CB1 cannabinoid receptor (Andersson et al 2003; Nordstrom & Andersson 2006). For both of these receptors, N-terminal truncations greatly improve receptor surface expression, although it is not certain if the receptors' N-termini possess specific ER retention motifs that are removed by the truncations or if instead there are global difficulties in folding that get resolved through the removal of hard-to-fold regions. There is evidence that the CB1 N-terminus undergoes proteolysis as part of the receptor's post-translational processing in some native cell types (Nordstrom & Andersson 2006), but at present there is no comparable evidence that the α_{1D} -adrenergic receptor or GPR37 undergo proteolysis of their N-termini as part of their processing in native cells.

After observing that N-terminal truncations could greatly enhance GPR37 surface trafficking in heterologous cells, we sought to determine if the surface-expressed truncated mutant versions of GPR37 were functionally active. Since the *Hydra* peptide head activator (HA) has been reported to be an agonist for GPR37 (Rezgaoui et al 2006),

we explored potential HA-mediated stimulation of wt GPR37 and the truncated versions of GPR37. However, in a variety of assays under a variety of different conditions, we were unable to detect any evidence for HA-induced activation of GPR37, GPR37L1 or any of the mutant versions of GPR37 that we had created. It is possible, of course, that truncations to the GPR37 N-terminus might destroy the binding site for HA, but comparable N-terminal truncations to the ET_BR , the most closely-related receptor to GPR37 and GPR37L1, do not disrupt ligand binding (Doi et al 1997; Klammt et al 2007).

In addition, studies of α_{1D} -AR have revealed NT truncation dramatically *increases* the receptor binding site density, as detected by radioligand binding. The ability of truncated α_{1D} -AR to release of intracellular calcium also increased, indicating proper functioning of the receptor as well (Pupo et al 2003). Thus, there is reason to believe that the truncated GPR37 mutants still may be functionally active. As for our studies on full-length GPR37, the discrepancy between the positive findings of Rezgaoui et al. (Rezgaoui et al 2006) and our negative findings for HA stimulation of wt GPR37 might be explained by differences in the cell lines used or other technical factors. Regardless of the explanation, it seems that GPR37 and GPR37L1 should still be considered orphan receptors at the present time, especially since it is not clear that a peptide similar to HA exists in vertebrates. Though there were a handful of papers several decades ago reporting HA-like immunoreactivity in sections of mammalian brains (Bodenmuller & Schaller 1981; Bodenmuller et al 1980; Ekman et al 1990), there have not been any positive follow-up studies in the past twenty years to confirm these early observations.

In conclusion, we have shown that GPR37L1, a close relative of GPR37, exhibits robust surface expression in heterologous cells. We have also shown truncation of the NT (255 amino acids) of GPR37 significantly enhances surface expression of the

receptor, and removing only 210 amino acids has similar effects with possibly less change to the structure and function of the receptor. Thus, if it is assumed that GPR37 and GPR37L1 are activated by the same ligand, or at least related ligands, it seems that GPR37L1 may prove the superior choice for screens attempting to identify the ligand(s) for this orphan receptor pair. However, screens focused solely on GPR37 may benefit from application of N-terminal truncation in order to achieve improved surface trafficking and enhanced functionality of GPR37.

CHAPTER III: Regulation of GPR37 Surface Expression by Protein-

Protein Interactions

3.1 Introduction

Though it is acknowledged that not all GPCRs require the presence of their NT to bind ligand or to function properly (Andersson et al 2003; Frielle et al 1989; Sakamoto et al 1993), it is typically preferable to use the wild-type version of a receptor in characterization studies, to have the utmost confidence in translating the results *in vitro* to *in vivo*. For instance, though the orphan receptor GPRC6A is believed to be a promiscuous L- α -amino acid receptor, the work done to come to that conclusion utilized a chimeric receptor, exposing the GPRC6A binding domain on the cell surface while attached to the seven-transmembrane region of the homologous goldfish receptor 5.24 due to an inability of the full-length GPRC6A to properly traffic (Wellendorph et al 2005). Therefore, although activation of the chimeric receptor was clearly observed upon stimulation with basic amino acids, further studies are required to confirm the endogenous ligand for GPRC6A.

In the studies described in the preceding chapter, we made sequential truncations of GPR37 to try to create a well-trafficked mutant of GPR37 that would have robust surface expression, but would not diverge too extensively in its sequence from the full-length receptor. Initially, removal of 255 amino acids, all but 10 amino acids from the NT, revealed an enormous boost in plasma membrane expression. In our follow-up studies, we determined that removal of just 210 amino acids would still provide robust plasma membrane expression, while not creating as severe a change as the entire NT truncation. Unfortunately, no specific amino acid mutations could be identified in the section between amino acids 175 and 210 to allow for creation and use of a mutated fulllength GPR37. We still believe that the Δ^{1-210} mutant is likely to bind GPR37 ligands and

is therefore a potentially useful tool for receptor characterization; however, to provide more accurate pharmacological characterization of GPR37, we also sought out other ways of enhancing proper trafficking of the full-length receptor to the cell surface.

Some GPCRs are found to have genetic mutations in specific disease states, which makes it difficult for them to properly fold and be processed, and they consequently wind up retained in the ER, leading to disease-related symptoms (Janovick et al 2002; Leanos-Miranda et al 2002; Morello & Bichet 2001; Ulloa-Aguirre et al 2003). It has been shown that certain antagonists for these mutated receptors can be used pharmacologically, allowing for release of the receptors from the ER, thereby significantly improving the patient's condition (Bernier et al 2004a; Bernier et al 2004b; Janovick et al 2003; Janovick et al 2002; Leanos-Miranda et al 2002; Morello et al 2000; Ulloa-Aguirre et al 2003). Presuming this a feasible method for receptors with difficulty trafficking in normal state, we attempted to increase surface expression of GPR37 using an ET_BR -specific antagonist which theoretically is structurally similar to true GPR37 antagonists.

Interactions between GPCRs have also been shown in some cases to strongly influence receptor surface expression, as well as receptor functional activity and pharmacological properties (Ferre et al 2008; Hague et al 2006; Prinster et al 2005). In some cases, it is believed that dimerization could perhaps mask an ER retention motif on a poorly trafficked receptor, thereby allowing for release and plasma membrane trafficking (Prinster et al 2005). In other cases, it seems that the dimer pair alters functionality as well as pharmacology of the individual partners, such as in the case for the TRs, whereby T1R2 + T1R3 heterodimerization is required to form functional sweet taste receptors, but the heterodimerization of T1R1 + T1R3 forms functional umami taste receptors (Nelson et al 2001). In addition, PDZ (postsynaptic density protein, <u>d</u>isc large

and <u>z</u>onula occuludens) scaffold proteins also have the capacity to affect surface expression and functional activity of certain receptors (Weinman et al 2006). For instance, the NHERF scaffolds mediate recycling and subcellular localization of the β_2 adrenergic receptor (Cao et al 1999) and also regulates Ca²⁺ signaling of mGluR5 (Paquet et al 2006). Therefore we examined the capacity of GPR37 to associate with PDZ scaffold proteins and other GPCRs. Our studies have revealed that co-expression with certain other receptors enhances GPR37 trafficking to the plasma membrane and that interactions with the PDZ scaffold protein syntenin-1 also strongly promote GPR37 surface expression.
3.2 Experimental Procedures

Materials. Materials were obtained from the following sources: human embryonic kidney 293 (HEK293) cells, ATCC (Manassas, VA); HA-A_{2A}R, HA-A_{2B}R, EE-Gα_{ii}, GPR37, HA-NPY₁R, HA-NPY₂R, HA-D₂R, HA-D₁R, Missouri S&T cDNA Resource Center (Rolla, MO); Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM), Lipofectamine 2000, precast 4-20% Tris-Glycine gels, AlexaFluor 800 goat-anti-mouse antibodies, Alexa Fluor 700 goatanti-rabbit antibodies, Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA); anti-FLAG M2 monoclonal antibody, haloperidol, (-)-quinpirole hydrochloride, GDP, GTP, anti-FLAG M2-agarose, butaclamol, dopamine, Sigma (St. Louis, MO); anti-HA 3F10 polyclonal antibody, anti-HA 12CA5 monoclonal antibody, complete protease inhibitors, Roche (Indianapolis, IN); ECL[™] anti-mouse IgG, horseradish peroxidase-linked whole antibody, [³H]-spiperone, GE Healthcare (Buckhinghamshire, UK); anti-Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase antibody, Upstate/Millipore (Billerica, MA); penicillin-streptomycin solution, ScintiSafe[™] scintillation fluid, Fisher (Herndon, VA); FBS, Atlanta Biologicals (Atlanta, GA); SuperSignal Elisa Pico ECL reagent, Pierce (Rockford, IL); nitrocellulose membranes, Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA); [³H]-YM-019151-2, [³⁵S]-GTPyS, Perkin Elmer (Waltham, MA); Brandel filters, Brandel Inc. (Gaithersburg, MD); IRL-2500, Tocris (Ellisville, MO).

Cell culture and transfection. HEK293 cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, and 1% penicillin-streptomycin solution at 37° C with 5% CO₂. Cells in 10-cm tissue culture dishes at a confluency of 50-60% were transfected with 1-3 µg of cDNA mixed with 15 µl Lipofectamine 2000 in 5ml of serum-free medium. Following a 4-5 hr incubation, complete medium was added to stop the transfection.

The cDNAs used were FLAG-GPR37 in pCMV2b, Δ^{1-210} FLAG-GPR37 in pCMV2b, 3xHA D₂R, 3xHA-A_{2A}R and A_{2B}R, HA-NPY₁R and NPY₂R, and EE-tagged G α_0 in pCDNA3.1, untagged DAT in pcDNA3.1 (-)/Neo, and empty pCMV2b vector. All cDNAs used were human.

Surface luminometer assay. HEK293 cells transiently transfected with FLAGtagged or HA-tagged constructs were split into poly D-lysine-coated 35-mm dishes and grown overnight at 37°C. For internalization assays, ligand was added into incomplete media and placed on cells for 30-60 min at 37°C. The cells were washed with phosphatebuffered saline (PBS + Ca²⁺), fixed 30 min with 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA), and washed with PBS + Ca²⁺again. The cells were then incubated in blocking buffer (2% nonfat dry milk in PBS + Ca²⁺, ph 7.4) for 30 min at room temperature (RT), followed by RT incubation with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated M2-anti-FLAG antibody (1:1000) or 12CA5-anti-HA antibody (1:1000) in blocking buffer for 1 h. For tracking HA-tagged receptors, cells were washed and incubated with anti-mouse IgG, horseradish peroxidase-linked whole antibody (1:4000) 30 min at RT. The cells were washed twice with blocking buffer, washed once with PBS + Ca²⁺, and incubated with SuperSignal Pico ECL reagent for 15 s. Luminescence of the entire 35-mm dish was determined using a TD20/20 luminometer (Turner Designs).

Western blotting. Samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE on 4-20% Tris-Glycine gels, followed by transfer to nitrocellulose membranes. The membranes were incubated in blocking buffer (2% nonfat dry milk, 50mM NaCl, 20mM HEPES, 0.1% Tween 20) for 30 min and then incubated with primary antibody for either 1 h at RT or overnight at 4°C. Next, the membranes were washed three times in blocking buffer and incubated with

either a fluorescent- or HRP-conjugated secondary antibody for 30 min, washed three times more, and finally visualized using the Odyssey imaging system (Li-Cor) or via ECL reagent followed by exposure to film.

Immunoprecipitation studies. HEK293 cells expressing HA-D₂R with either FLAG-GPR37 or FLAG- Δ^{1-210} GPR37 were harvested by washing once in ice-cold PBS and scraping in harvest buffer (10 mM HEPES, 50 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 1 mM benzamidine, protease inhibitor tablet, 1% Triton X-100; pH 7.4). Cell lysates were then solubilized, immunoprecipitated with anti-FLAG M2 affinity resin, and washed by repeated centrifugation and homogenization. Samples were heated, then probed via Western blotting, using anti-FLAG M2 or anti-HA 3F10 antibodies.

Ligand binding studies. For preparation of cell lysates to be used in ligand binding assays, transfected cells grown on 100-mm dishes were rinsed with 2 ml PBS + Ca²⁺, then starved for 1 hour in 5ml PBS + Ca²⁺. The cells were scraped into 1 ml of ice-cold binding buffer (20 mM HEPES, 100mM NaCl, 5mM MgCl, 1.5 mM CaCl, 5mM KCl, 0.5mM EDTA, protease inhibitor tablet, pH 7.4). Cells were frozen at -20°C until use. On the day of the assay, cells were thawed and centrifuged at 13,500 rpm for 15 min to separate membranes. Membranes were then resuspended in 1 ml binding buffer, triturated, and incubated with increasing concentrations of unlabeled ligands in the presence of 0.5 nM [³H]-spiperone to generate competition curves. The samples were incubated for one hour at 25°C. Nonspecific binding was defined as [³H]-spiperone binding in the presence of 50 μ M (+)-butaclamol, and represented less than 10% of total binding in all experiments. Incubations were terminated via filtration through GF/C filter paper, previously soaked in a 0.05% polyethylenemine solution, using a Brandel

cell harvester. On the harvester, filters were rapidly washed three times with ice-cold wash buffer (10 mM HEPES, 50mM NaCl), and radioactive ligand retained by the filters was quantified via liquid scintillation spectrometry. The fitting of curves for one site versus two sites was performed, and goodness of fit was quantified using F tests, comparing sum-of-squares values for the one-site versus two-site fits.

[35S] GTP_YS binding assays. Cell membranes (60 µg) derived from cells that had been transfected with EE-tagged G proteins, $D_2R \pm$ wt GPR37 were incubated in 200 µl assay buffer (20mM HEPES, 100mM NaCl, 10mM MgCl₂, pH 7.4) containing 10 µM GDP, 0.001% saponin, and various concentrations of quinpirole. All experiments were performed in triplicate. The reaction was initiated by the addition of cell membranes and incubated for 30 minutes. A 20 µl volume of [35S] GTP_YS (0.1 nM final concentration) was added, and the incubation continued for another 30 minutes. At the end of the incubation, samples were spun down 20 minutes, washed twice with assay buffer, and resuspended in 200 µl H₂O. Each sample was added to 5 ml scintillation fluid and radioactivity was determined by liquid scintillation spectrometry. Data was normalized to maximal response induced by quinpirole.

Purification of Fusion Proteins. Wild-type and mutant (removal of final cysteine) GST-tagged constructs (termed GPR37-CT and GPR37-Mut-CT, respectively) were created by PCR followed by insertion into the pGEX-4T1 vector. Overnight cultures of BL-21 DE Gold cells transformed with pGEX-4T1, pGEX4T-1CT or pGEX 4T-1Mut were diluted 1:143 into 1L of LB broth supplemented with appropriate antibiotics and grown to an optical density (A600) of 0.6-0.7 at 37°C. IPTG was then added to the culture and allowed to incubate for 2 h. Bacteria were pelleted by centrifugation, and the GST,

GPR37-CT-GST, or GPR37-Mut-GST fusion proteins were purified using Sigma GSH agarose. The fusion proteins remained attached to GST agarose for the syntenin-1 pulldown or were eluted for use in the PDZ array. Eluted proteins were concentrated using the Amicon Ultra protein concentration system via centrifugation at 4°C to remove excess glutathione, and the concentration of the purified proteins were determined by QuickStart[™] Bradford protein assay according to the manufacturer's protocols (Bio-Rad).

Screening of the PDZ domain proteomic array. To identify novel PDZ domains interacting with GPR37, we screened the PDZ domain array as previously described (Fam et al 2005; He et al 2006). Briefly, 96 different purified PDZ domains were spotted at 1µg per bin onto Nytran SuperCharge 96-grid nylon membranes (Schleicher and Schuell BioScience, Keene, NH). The membranes were allowed to dry overnight and then blocked in blocking buffer for 30 min at room temperature. The arrays were then overlaid with either control GST, GPR37-CT-GST, or GPR37-Mut-GST (100 nm in blocking buffer) overnight at 4°C. The overlaid arrays were washed three times for 5 min each with 20 ml blocking buffer, incubated with anti-GST horseradish peroxidase-conjugated antibody (Amersham, 1:4000) for 1 h at room temperature, washed again three times for 4 min each with 20 ml blocking buffer, and ultimately visualized via chemiluminescence.

Fusion Protein Pull-down Assays. HEK-293 cells transiently transfected with HAsyntenin-1 (kindly provided by Paul Coffer, UMC Utrecht) were harvested in a detergentfree harvest buffer (10 mM HEPES, 50 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, protease inhibitor tablet). The cells were spun down to isolate the membranes, which were then incubated

in harvest buffer containing 1% Triton X-100 for 1h at 4°C with end-over-end agitation. The samples were spun down again to separate the soluble lysates from insoluble material. A sample of the solubilized protein was retained to ensure syntenin-1 expression and solubilization. The remaining lysates were divided evenly and incubated with glutathione agarose beads loaded with GST, GPR37-CT-GST, or GPR37-Mut-GST fusion proteins end-over-end for 1h at 4°C. The beads were washed 5 times with harvest buffer containing 1% Triton X-100 and then heated in sample buffer to strip proteins from the beads. The samples were then analyzed via Western blot for pull-down of syntenin-1 using an anti-HA antibody.

Statistical analysis. All statistical analyses were carried out using Graph Pad Prism software (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Antagonists of $ET_{B}R$ do not influence the cellular trafficking of GPR37.

Knowing that specific antagonists are able to improve the surface trafficking of certain ER-retained GPCRs (Bernier et al 2004a; Bernier et al 2004b; Janovick et al 2003; Janovick et al 2002; Leanos-Miranda et al 2002; Morello et al 2000; Ulloa-Aguirre et al 2003), we explored the same idea for GPR37 using a known endothelin receptor antagonist. In HEK293 cells transfected with GPR37, we observed surface expression of the receptor using the luminometer-based surface expression assay with or without treatment of the selective ET_BR antagonist IRL-2500, which we hypothesized might have some ability to bind GPR37. However, we did not observe any shift in surface expression of GPR37 upon ET_BR antagonist stimulation (Fig III-1).

3.3.2 Dopamine receptor D_2R interacts with GPR37.

Studies of other poorly trafficked GPCRs, such as the aforementioned GABA_BR1 and α_{1D} -AR have revealed that receptor surface expression can sometimes be greatly enhanced upon co-expression with interacting GPCRs (Prinster et al 2005). GPR37 has been reported to associate with the dopamine transporter (DAT) (Marazziti et al 2007), but there have not yet been any studies of possible GPR37 interactions with other GPCRs. Thus, we co-expressed GPR37 in HEK293 cells with DAT, as well as a handful of GPCRs that possess similar regional expression patterns and quantified GPR37 surface expression. In comparison with GPR37 expressed alone, the luminometer-based surface assay revealed an increase in GPR37 surface expression when co-expressed with the

Figure III-1. ET_BR antagonists do not enhance cell surface trafficking of

GPR37. HEK293 cells were transiently transfected with empty pCMV2B or FLAGtagged GPR37. Cells were treated with IRL-2500 16 hr prior to fixing. Cell surface expression was then determined using a luminometer-based assay. Values are expressed as mean fold over untreated \pm S.E.M. (n=3)



adenosine A_{2A} receptor ($A_{2A}R$), as well as a much larger increase when co-expressed with the dopamine D_2 receptor (D_2R) (Fig III-2A). Neither DAT nor any of the other receptors ($A_{2B}R$ and neuropeptide receptors NPY₁ and NPY₂) had any effect on surface expression of GPR37. To examine whether D_2R might form complexes with GPR37 in cells, we performed co-immunoprecipitation studies, which revealed a robust interaction between GPR37 and D_2R (Fig III-2B-E). Both wt GPR37 (Fig III-2B & 2D) and the Δ^{1-210} mutant (Fig III-2C & 2E) co-immunoprecipitated with both the immature (unprocessed) and the mature (glycosylated) forms of D_2R (lower and upper bands, respectively), indicating the interaction between these two receptors likely occurs in the ER and is maintained after glycosylation. The Δ^{1-210} mutant exhibited a consistently stronger interaction with D_2R than did wt GPR37, probably due to the enhanced plasma membrane expression of the mutant receptor. Therefore, we used the Δ^{1-210} mutant for further studies on the effects of GPR37 on D_2R properties.

Receptor-receptor interactions often modulate the endocytic trafficking of GPCRs (Bouvier 2001; Prinster et al 2005). In some cases, interaction with a partner receptor can inhibit normal agonist-induced internalization of a given GPCR, whereas in other cases, stimulation by the ligand of one receptor can induce an interacting receptor to be co-internalized (Lavoie et al 2002; Uberti et al 2005). To observe the effects of Δ^{1-210} co-expression on the agonist-induced internalization rate of D₂R, and also to assess the possibility of Δ^{1-210} co-internalization upon D₂R agonist stimulation, luminometer-based surface expression assays were carried out. Upon treatment with the D₂R agonist quinpirole for 30 minutes, the individually expressed D₂R internalized by $32 \pm 9\%$. Similarly, when co-expressed with Δ^{1-210} GPR37, quinpirole-stimulated D₂R internalized by $33 \pm 2\%$. Co-internalization of Δ^{1-210} GPR37 was not observed upon co-expression with D₂R and quinpirole stimulation (Fig III-3), and co-immunoprecipitation

Figure III-2. Physical association between D₂R and GPR37. HEK293 cells were transiently transfected with FLAG-tagged GPR37 ± untagged DAT, HA-A_{2A}R, HA-A_{2B}R, HA-D₂R, HA-NPY₁R, or HA-NPY₂R. (A) Surface expression of GPR37 was determined using a luminometer-based assay. Values are expressed as mean fold over wt GPR37 ± S.E.M. One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post-hoc test was used to determine statistical significance. (*n*=3-8; *, *p* <0.05, **, *p* <0.005) (B-E) Cells were harvested, lysed, and immunoprecipitated (IP) with anti-FLAG antibody. Western blot detection of membrane (M), soluble lysate (L), and IP fractions with anti-FLAG (B&C) or anti-HA antibody (D&E) revealed robust co-immunoprecipitation of D₂R with both GPR37 (B&D) and mutant Δ¹⁻²¹⁰ GPR37 (C&E).













А

Figure III-3. Quinpirole stimulation induces no effect on surface expression of Δ^{1-210} or its interaction with D₂R. Surface expression of FLAG- Δ^{1-210} GPR37 was measured in the prese nce or absence of HA-D₂R with or without quinpirole treatment (100 µM, 1 hr, 37°C) using a luminometer-based assay (anti-FLAG). In the same way, surface expression of HA-D₂R was detected in the presence or absence of FLAG- Δ^{1-210} GPR37 with or without quinpirole treatment (anti-HA). Values are expressed as mean percent internalization ± S.E.M. (*n*=5).



experiments performed in the absence and presence of quinpirole treatment revealed that the interaction between D_2R and GPR37 was unchanged upon agonist stimulation (data not shown). Thus, we found no evidence for agonist regulation of the interaction, and also no evidence that the interaction altered agonist-promoted internalization of D_2R .

3.3.3 Co-expression with Δ 1-210 GPR37 alters D₂R ligand-binding properties.

To determine if the physical interaction between GPR37 and D₂R might have effects on D₂R functionality, ligand binding studies were performed using radiolabeled versions of the D₂R antagonists spiperone and YM-09151. Both ligands exhibited modest but significant increases in affinity for D₂R when D₂R was co-expressed with Δ^{1-210} GPR37 (Table 1; Fig.III-4A&B). Competition curves were also performed for displacement of [³H]-spiperone binding by unlabeled versions of the D₂R agonists, dopamine and quinpirole, and the D₂R antagonist haloperidol. The affinities of these ligands for D₂R were also somewhat altered when D₂R was co-expressed with Δ^{1-210} GPR37, with the magnitude of the change being ligand-specific (Table 1). To investigate whether these differences in ligand binding might correspond to changes in functional activity, [³⁵S]-GTPγS binding studies were performed on membranes derived from cells over-expressing Gα₀ protein and D₂R in the absence and presence of Δ^{1-210} GPR37. However, no significant shift in EC₅₀ was observed when Δ^{1-210} GPR37 was co-expressed with D₂R, compared to D₂R alone (data not shown).

Figure III-4. D₂R antagonists exhibit enhanced affinity for D₂R in the

presence of Δ^{1-210} **GPR37.** HEK293 cells were transiently transfected with D₂R in the presence or absence of Δ^{1-210} GPR37. (A&B) Scatchard plots for the ligand-binding studies were performed using radiolabeled versions of the D₂R antagonists spiperone (A) and YM-09151 (B). (*n*=3)



А

В

Table III-1. Co-expression with Δ^{1-210} GPR37 modulates D₂R ligand binding affinity.

	<u>Agonists</u>	$K_i \pm S.E.M(nM)$	<u>Antagonists</u>	$K_D/K_i \pm S.E.M.(pM)$
D ₂ R alone	Dopamine	97 ± 27	Haloperidol	1114 ± 86
$D_2R + \Delta^{1-210}GPR37$		41 ± 10		480 ± 76
D ₂ R alone	Quinpirole	82 ± 38	Spiperone	72 ± 20
$D_2R+\Delta^{1\text{-}210}GPR37$		36 ± 9		43 ± 10
D ₂ R alone			YM-09151	1228 ± 567
$D_2R + \Delta^{1-210}GPR37$				621 ± 193

Ligand binding studies were performed, as described in *Materials and Methods*, on membranes derived from HEK293 cells that had been transfected to transiently express HA-D₂R in the absence or presence of FLAG- Δ^{1-210} GPR37. Estimates of K_i or K_D (± S.E.M.) for each ligand are provided. For the curves of dopamine and quinpirole displacement of [³H]-spiperone binding, two-site fits were not significantly better than one-site fits, and therefore one-site fit values are shown.

3.3.4 Co-expression of GPR37 with syntenin-1 enhances GPR37 surface expression.

The GPR37 CT possesses a consensus Class 1 PDZ domain-binding motif (G-T-H-C). To examine whether GPR37 might interact via this motif with PDZ domain-containing scaffold proteins, we prepared the GPR37 CT as a GST fusion protein and screened it against a proteomic array of 96 purified PDZ domains (Fam et al 2005; He et al 2006). However, the GPR37-CT-GST fusion protein did not exhibit detectable binding to any of the PDZ domains on the array (data not shown). In addition to this proteomic approach toward searching for GPR37-interacting partners, we also took a bioinformatics approach and noted that GPR37 terminates in precisely the same C-terminal motif as the glycine transporter GlyT2 (G-T-x-C). Since GlyT2 has been shown to interact via this motif with the atypical PDZ scaffold syntenin-1 (Armsen et al 2007; Ohno et al 2004), we specifically examined whether GPR37 and syntenin-1 might interact. As shown in Figure III-5A, pull-down analyses revealed a robust interaction between the GPR37-CT-GST and syntenin-1. This interaction was not seen using a mutated version of the GPR37-CT-GST protein (GPR37-Mut-GST), in which the final cysteine residue had been removed to disrupt the PDZ-binding motif. Moreover, when syntenin-1 was co-expressed with fulllength GPR37 in HEK-293 cells, the result was a striking 10-fold increase in the amount of GPR37 that could be detected in the plasma membrane (Fig III-5B). Interestingly, coexpression of syntenin-1 with Δ^{1-210} GPR37 still resulted in a three-fold increase in the surface expression of the truncated mutant receptor, revealing that a combination of approaches (truncation of the receptor's NT and co-expression of the receptor with a CTbinding partner) can work synergistically to maximize GPR37 trafficking to the plasma membrane in heterologous cells (Fig III-5C).

Figure III-5. Physical association between GPR37 and syntenin-1. (A) Pulldown studies were performed examining syntenin-1 interactions with control GST, GPR37-CT-GST, and a mutant version of GPR37-CT-GST (GPR37-Mut-GST) with the PDZ-binding motif removed. Robust binding of syntenin-1 was observed only with wildtype GPR37-CT-GST. (B&C) HEK-293 cells were transiently transfected with wt GPR37 (B) or Δ^{1-210} GPR37 (C) in the absence and presence of co-expressed HA-syntenin-1. Surface expression of the receptors was determined using a luminometer-based assay. Values are expressed as mean fold increase over receptor alone \pm SEM. (n=3-4; *, *p* < 0.05)



В

С





3.4 Discussion

Most seven transmembrane receptors exhibit characteristic coupling to Gproteins to elicit intracellular responses upon activation and have been important pharmacological targets in the discovery of many important drugs. The traditional dogma in regards to this family of receptors is that they all function individually, as monomers, and their functions are individually regulated. Part of this mindset stemmed from the one-track minded goal of initial GPCR research-identify individual genes coding for different individual members of the GPCR superfamily and characterize the individual receptors (Tallman 2000). However, in recent years this idea has been evolving and it is now commonly accepted that many GPCRs function as dimers or even multimers, with subsequently altered expression levels, function, and pharmacological properties depending on receptor-receptor interactions. The gateway to this new school of thought was unlocked when the discovery was made that non-functional GABA_BR subunits required dimerization to properly traffic and function (White et al 1998). This was the first widely accepted example of functional consequence from dimerization of receptors. Since then, though, further evidence has emerged, strongly supporting the case for GPCRs functioning in other ways beyond the assumed monomeric form, with no limitations to specific subfamilies, regional locations, or functionality (Gines et al 2000; Hague et al 2006; Jordan et al 2000; Lavoie et al 2002).

In our studies, we identified two distinct approaches beyond N-terminal truncation by which GPR37 trafficking to the plasma membrane can be enhanced: coexpression with certain other GPCRs and co-expression with the PDZ scaffold syntenin-1. The dopamine receptor D₂R and adenosine A_{2A}R both had notable effects on the plasma membrane expression of GPR37 when co-expressed in HEK293 cells. Interestingly, D₂R and A_{2A}R are known to be capable of functional interactions with each

other and are also known to be found abundantly in the striatum (Fuxe et al 2007), a brain region where GPR37 is highly expressed (Lein et al 2007; Zeng et al 1997). Many studies on cross-talk between D_2R and $A_{2A}R$ have focused on how stimulation of one of the receptors can directly influence the properties of the other partner (Fuxe et al 2007). However, in the absence of a functional ligand for GPR37, such cross-talk studies on the putative heterodimers consisting of GPR37/ D_2R and GPR37/ $A_{2A}R$ are not possible at the present time. Thus, we focused on determining whether co-expression with GPR37 might alter D_2R properties.

In ligand binding studies, we found that co-expression with GPR37 induced modest shifts in the affinity of D_2R for various ligands. Although these shifts were only in the range of 1.5- to 2.5-fold, the true magnitude of the changes may be underestimated in our studies, since our transfection efficiency was not 100%. Moreover, it is unlikely that there would be 100% efficient co-assembly of the receptors even in cells that were doubly-transfected with D_2R and GPR37. Thus, any observed changes in the properties of the D₂R/GPR37 heterodimer relative to D₂R alone would likely be underestimated in co-expression studies of this type. As for the potential *in vivo* relevance of the GPR37 effects on D₂R properties, it is interesting to note that the affinity of D₂R for [3H]-YM-09151-2 in GPR37 knockout mice is decreased by approximately two-fold (Marazziti et al 2007), which is strikingly consistent with the approximate two-fold increase in D_2R affinity for $[^{3}H]$ -YM-09151-2 that we observed upon co-transfection of D₂R with GPR37. If it is true that associations between GPR37 and D₂R can subtly influence D₂R antagonist binding properties *in vivo*, this is a point of significant clinical interest given the widespread use of D_2R antagonists in treating schizophrenia (Strange 2008). Since GPR37 is co-expressed *in vivo* with D_2R in some neuronal populations but not others (Lein et al 2007), it may be possible to develop D_2R antagonists with enhanced regional

selectivity by developing compounds that preferentially target the D_2R/GPR_{37} complex relative to D_2R alone (or vice versa).

The second approach that we found to result in enhanced surface expression of GPR37 was co-expression with the PDZ scaffold syntenin-1. The interaction of GPR37 with syntenin-1 was quite specific, as screens of a proteomic array consisting of 96 other PDZ domains with the GPR37-CT did not reveal detectable interactions with any other PDZ domains. GPR37 terminates in a motif, G-T-x-C, that is identical to the motif found at the C-terminus of the syntenin-1 binding partner GlyT2 (Armsen et al 2007; Ohno et al 2004). For GlyT2, the primary functional consequence of interaction with syntenin-1 is enhanced trafficking to synapses (Armsen et al 2007). For several other syntenin-1interacting proteins, including pro-transforming growth factor α (Fernandez-Larrea et al 1999), CD63 (Latysheva et al 2006) and the Notch ligand Delta1 (Estrach et al 2007), coexpression with syntenin-1 has been shown to markedly enhance trafficking to the plasma membrane, similar to the effects on GPR37 that we observed in our studies. Interestingly, syntenin-1 is known to be highly expressed in oligodendrocytes (Chatterjee et al 2008), the cell type in which GPR37 is most abundantly expressed (Imai et al 2001). Since GPR37 is an orphan receptor, it is not possible at the present time to test whether the GPR37/syntenin-1 association has effects on the receptor's functional properties, but the dramatic effects of syntenin-1 on GPR37 surface expression my prove useful in screens for potential GPR37 ligands that would allow for deorphanization of the receptor.

In summary, we have elucidated two distinct approaches by which the trafficking of GPR37 to the plasma membrane can be enhanced. Screens focused on GPR37 may benefit from application of one or both of the approaches described here – co-expression with partner receptors and/or co-expression with syntenin-1 – in order to achieve

improved surface trafficking and enhanced functionality of GPR37. Moreover, the observed synergistic effect of co-expression with syntenin-1 with the truncated form of GPR37 demonstrates that combinations of these approaches can prove useful in studies of GPR37. Furthermore, when more is known about the ligand binding and signaling capabilities of GPR37, the interactions described here between GPR37 and other receptors and GPR37/syntenin-1 may eventually help to shed light on the regulation of GPR37 functional activity *in vivo*.

Chapter IV: Conclusion

The studies described in the preceding chapters elucidate three different approaches that can aid in GPR37 trafficking to the plasma membrane: truncation of the receptor's N-terminus, co-expression with other GPCRs (specifically D₂R and A_{2A}R), and co-expression with the PDZ scaffold syntenin-1 (Fig IV-1). In addition, comparisons between GPR37 and its closest relative GPR37L1 revealed robust surface expression of GPR37L1 at the plasma membrane in heterologous cells, but not of GPR37. Little has been published in regards to GPR37L1, but its strong surface expression in the studies shown here indicates it should be easier to study in heterologous systems than GPR37. Given the striking similarity of the two receptors, it seems likely that achieving a better understanding of the signaling or ligand binding of GPR37L1 would lead to insights about GPR37 function.

We determined that the first 210 amino acids of the GPR37 NT are responsible for the intracellular retention observed in heterologous cells, but we were unable to tease out any specific amino acids between amino acids 175 and 210 that may be involved in its anterograde trafficking. Interestingly, a number of GPCRs, including ET_BR , which is the orphan pair's closest relative, do not require their entire NT for proper agonist binding or function (Doi et al 1997; Frielle et al 1989; Klammt et al 2007; Meunier et al 2000). Therefore, the Δ^{1-210} mutant may still be functionally active and, thus, another useful tool for further analysis and characterization of GPR37. The neuropeptide head activator has been reported to activate GPR37 in a variety of cell lines and oocytes (Rezgaoui et al 2006). However, in our hands, we were unable to detect any evidence for HA-induced activation of GPR37, GPR37L1, or any of the mutant versions of GPR37. Therefore, we cannot say for certain whether or not the Δ^{1-210} mutant is active, but based on the analogy with endothelin receptors, the Δ^{1-210} mutant is likely to be a useful tool in future studies on GPR37 in heterologous cells.

Figure IV-1. Experimental methods for enhancement of GPR37 surface expression.

When expressed in heterologous cells, GPR37 exhibits poor plasma membrane trafficking, which we determined to be enhanced via three distinct mechanisms: truncation of a portion of the N-terminus (deletion of sequence), co-expression with other GPCRs (notably D₂R and A_{2A}R), and co-expression with scaffolding proteins (notably syntenin-1). Though no ligand is currently known, the far right panel indicates the possibility that further research can lead to the discovery of one or more pharmacological chaperones that may be used to release GPR37 from the endoplasmic reticulum and allow for enhanced trafficking of GPR37 to the plasma membrane.



We found a novel interaction between GPR37 and D_2R when the two receptors are heterologously co-expressed. This interaction positively influences the forward trafficking of GPR37, such that the surface expression of GPR37 is significantly enhanced when co-expressed with D_2R . In ligand binding experiments, we observed a modest increase in affinity of D_2R for both agonists and antagonists in the presence of full-length or truncated GPR37 as compared to D_2R expressed alone. Interestingly, D_2 -like receptors are pre-synaptic and found mostly in the striatum (Lein et al 2007; Mizuno et al 2007). GPR37 has been shown to be located presynaptically, and is distributed widely throughout the brain, including significant expression in the striatum (Lein et al 2007; Marazziti et al 2007). Therefore, there is a reasonable possibility that these receptors could also interact *in vivo*. In fact, when measuring the B_{max} and K_D of the specific D_2R antagonist [³H]- YM-09151-2 in striatal tissue of GPR37 KO mice, there was an observed two-fold decrease in affinity in comparison to tissue from wt animals (Marazziti et al 2007), which is remarkably in accordance with our observations *in vitro*.

Receptors that can subtly modulate the properties of other receptors, such as the ability of GPR37 to increase the D_2R affinity for certain agonist and antagonist may be viewed as a novel class of pharmacological targets. The dopaminergic system is one of the most highly targeted systems for a number of different diseases and disorders, including depression, schizophrenia, Parkinson's disease, hyperactivity, acute delirium, and alcohol withdrawal (Fuxe et al 2008; Lan et al 2009; Lee et al 2007). One of the major targets in this system is D_2R , but due to the receptor's widespread expression, D_2R -related treatments often cause many severe adverse side-effects, such as drug-induced parkinsonism and akathisia, which are a hindrance to patient compliance (Buckley 1999; Jackson et al 2008). These effects are most highly associated with the use of haloperidol, a conventional neuroleptic or first-generation antipsychotic. Such

potent drugs have mostly been replaced by the use of second-generation antipsychotics, due to their characteristic lack of extrapyramidal side effects at clinically effective doses (Bonham & Abbott 2008). However, these so-called atypical antipsychotics are not all more efficacious than haloperidol-some are less so-and they all come with their own host of adverse side-effects, including sedation, hyperglycemia, and significant weight gain, resulting in an increased risk for diabetes and cardiovascular difficulties (Ananth et al 2004; Leucht et al 2009), which also result in patient non-compliance (Leucht et al 2008). Thus, if various interacting partners of D_2R , such as GPR37, could be targeted to alter the affinity of haloperidol or other D₂R antagonists in only specific regions of the brain, the prevalence of debilitating side effects may be reduced and the quality of the treatment increased (Fig IV-2A). This concept is already beginning to be applied elsewhere, as in the case for treatment of PD or schizophrenia. Stimulation of $A_{2A}R$ and/or mGluR5 simultaneously with D_2R stimulation alters the affinity of D_2R for its ligands (Fuxe et al 2008). Thus, a drug cocktail targeting one or both of these receptors concomitantly with D₂R drugs could lower the necessary dose of L-Dopa, reducing the extrapyramidal side effects and possibly providing neuroprotective effects as well. In theory, agonists of those adenosine and glutamate receptors also may assist in treatment of schizophrenia by reducing or eliminating the need for D₂R antagonists (Fuxe et al 2008). Given that GPR37 already plays a role in the pathology of PD and, based on our trafficking studies, appears also to have a relationship with $A_{2A}R$, it is possible that GPR37 could be another beneficial target in the treatment of these diseases (Fig IV-2A). Ideally, one might specifically target the GPR37/D₂R heterodimer with ligands for both D_2R and GPR37 (Fig IV-2A&B), but currently the pharmacological properties of the pair upon co-stimulation are impossible to study due to the lack of known ligands for GPR37.

Figure IV-2. Possible therapeutic targets involving GPR37 and its interacting partners. Many orphan GPCRs have the potential to be therapeutic targets, and our studies on GPR37 have suggested several different ways in which this receptor may be targeted in the future for therapeutic benefit. (A) By targeting GPR37 with a ligand, dopaminergic activity could be altered in certain brain regions, resulting in lower doses of dopaminergic treatments necessary for diseases such as Parkinson's disease or schizophrenia. (B) Since our studies have revealed that D₂R can have altered pharmacological properties when co-expressed with GPR37, drugs acting preferentially at the D_2R/GPR_{37} heterodimer may have improved regional specificity and/or alternate downstream effects relative to drugs preferentially targeting D₂R alone, which could make such compounds therapeutically desirable. (C) Syntenin-1 or the PDZ motif on the CT of GPR37 could be a target to modulate anterograde trafficking of GPR37, thereby controlling GPR37 in a manner that might be clinically useful. Additionally, the PDZ motif of GPR37 could possibly be a target to help prevent self-aggregation of GPR37, analogous to current strategies targeting aggregates of α-synuclein as novel approaches to PD treatment (Bodles et al 2004). (D) Pharmacological chaperones for GPR37 may be used to target the misfolded GPR37 stuck in the ER, allowing for release of the receptor from the ER, reduced neuronal death, and a slowed progression of PD.



Our studies have also revealed a novel, specific interaction between the PDZ scaffold syntenin-1 and GPR37. GPR37 terminates in the amino acids G-T-x-C, a motif identical to that found on the C-terminus of the glycine transporter GlyT2, which also interacts with syntenin-1 (Armsen et al 2007; Ohno et al 2004). For GlyT2 (Armsen et al 2007), as well as other interacting proteins pro-TGF α (Fernandez-Larrea et al 1999), CD63 (Latysheva et al 2006), and the Notch ligand Delta1 (Estrach et al 2007), syntenin-1 co-expression markedly enhances trafficking to the plasma membrane. We observed the same effect on GPR37, with about a ten-fold increase of GPR37 plasma membrane expression when co-expressed with syntenin-1. Interestingly, both syntenin-1 (Chatterjee et al 2008) and GPR37 (Imai et al 2001) are known to be expressed in oligodendrocytes; therefore this is another interaction that potentially exists in vivo. Similar to the aforementioned GPCR heterodimers, many receptor-scaffold interactions seem to be enhanced via agonist stimulation (Hall & Lefkowitz 2002). Unfortunately, with no known GPR37 ligand, the functional properties of GPR37 cannot be studied in regards to this association, but syntenin-1 may be yet another useful tool for the future characterization and deorphanization of GPR37. Additionally, the GPR37/syntenin-1 interface may prove itself to be a valuable drug target (Fig IV-2C), as targeting domains that mediate protein-protein interactions is an increasingly popular idea in drug development (Dev 2004).

PD is widely believed to be caused by a combination of toxin exposure and genetic factors (Lang & Lozano 1998). Environmental toxins can cause oxidative stress in dopaminergic neurons, which leads to ER stress and the misfolding of certain proteins that are prone to aggregation. The buildup of the toxic aggregates can induce further ER stress and cellular damage in a feed-forward loop, which may be why brain tissue from PD patients shows clear signs of ER stress (Takahashi & Imai 2003) and why genetic

mutations to proteins that control ER-associated degradation induce early-onset forms of PD (Schulz 2008). Long-term treatment of PD with Levodopa, the most common treatment for PD patients, comes with complications and adverse side effects, including its ability to auto-oxidize, leading to ROS production and exacerbating the disease progression (Zhou et al 2008). It also only alleviates the symptoms of PD, rather than treating or stopping the progressive loss of neurons. Thus, a great need exists for new treatments that are able to slow or stop the progression of disease. One might envision a cocktail of therapeutics, to both limit oxidative stress and alleviate ER stress induced by misfolded, aggregated proteins.

GPR37 is not the only substrate of parkin, but it was one of the first to be discovered and one of only two parkin substrates along with the programmed cell death-2 isoform 1 (PDCD2-1) (Fukae et al 2009) that has been shown to accumulate in brains of AR-JP patients (Imai et al 2001; Murakami et al 2004). Furthermore, overexpression of GPR37 in rats (Dusonchet et al 2009), mice (Imai et al 2007; Wang et al 2008) and flies (Yang et al 2003) greatly potentiates the death of dopaminergic neurons, and GPR37 KO mice are resistant to MPTP-induced killing of dopaminergic neurons (Marazziti et al 2004). The weight of this evidence suggests that GPR37 is somehow involved in PD pathology. Therefore, pharmacological chaperones that reduce misfolding of GPR37 are logical candidates for novel therapeutics in treating PD (Fig IV-D). Pharmacological chaperones, which are oftentimes antagonists or allosteric modulators of receptors, have proven to be useful in treatments for disease states caused by misfolded receptors (Bernier et al 2004b; Bernier et al 2006; Janovick et al 2002; Leanos-Miranda et al 2002; Morello et al 2000; Noorwez et al 2003; Ulloa-Aguirre et al 2003). The mechanisms by which such chaperones can promote forward trafficking of misfolded receptors are not entirely understood, but it seems that in many cases, the ER-

retained receptors either achieve enhanced folding upon chaperone binding or are masked from the ER quality control, enabling the receptors to leave the ER and eventually reach the cell surface. In our efforts with an ET_BR antagonist and 4-PBA, a fatty acid seen to act as a chaperone (Jin et al 2007) and reported to reduce GPR37induced stress (Kubota et al 2006), we were unable to promote the forward trafficking of GPR37. However, when more is understood about the ligand binding and functionality of GPR37, it is possible that targeting the receptor pharmacologically to reduce its misfolding, perhaps in combination with additional pharmacological chaperones to target other misfolded proteins that contribute to PD pathology, could represent a potential novel approach to treatment of PD (Fig IV-1).

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that GPR37 trafficking is controlled by an N-terminal domain that, when removed, allows for ER release and robust cell surface expression of the receptor. We also identified a novel interaction between GPR37 and the dopamine D₂R, in which D₂R ligand affinity is altered upon co-expression of GPR37. This receptor pair may prove to be a valuable target for antipsychotic agents, used in diseases and disorders such as schizophrenia, alcohol withdrawal, and Parkinson's disease. Finally, we have elucidated a novel interaction between GPR37 and the scaffold protein syntenin-1, which, together with truncation of the receptor, can synergistically enhance the surface expression of GPR37. The findings reported here may ultimately lead to enhanced understanding of GPR37 functional activity *in vivo* and insights into the potential role of GPR37 in the etiology of PD, which can lead to potential new therapies for PD treatment.
References

- Alberts BJ, A.; Lewis, J.; Raff, M.; Roberts, K.;Walter, P., ed. 2002. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*. New York: Garland Science
- Ali MS, Sayeski PP, Dirksen LB, Hayzer DJ, Marrero MB, Bernstein KE. 1997. Dependence on the motif YIPP for the physical association of Jak2 kinase with the intracellular carboxyl tail of the angiotensin II AT1 receptor. *J Biol Chem* 272:23382-8
- Ananth J, Parameswaran S, Gunatilake S. 2004. Side effects of atypical antipsychotic drugs. *Curr Pharm Des* 10:2219-29
- Andersson H, D'Antona AM, Kendall DA, Von Heijne G, Chin CN. 2003. Membrane assembly of the cannabinoid receptor 1: impact of a long N-terminal tail. *Mol Pharmacol* 64:570-7
- Anukanth A, Khorana HG. 1994. Structure and function in rhodopsin. Requirements of a specific structure for the intradiscal domain. *J Biol Chem* 269:19738-44
- Armsen W, Himmel B, Betz H, Eulenburg V. 2007. The C-terminal PDZ-ligand motif of the neuronal glycine transporter GlyT2 is required for efficient synaptic localization. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 36:369-80
- Bachmanov AA, Beauchamp GK. 2007. Taste receptor genes. Annu Rev Nutr 27:389-414
- Baker EK, Colley NJ, Zuker CS. 1994. The cyclophilin homolog NinaA functions as a chaperone, forming a stable complex in vivo with its protein target rhodopsin. *EMBO J* 13:4886-95
- Beal MF. 2003. Mitochondria, oxidative damage, and inflammation in Parkinson's disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 991:120-31
- Behrens M, Bartelt J, Reichling C, Winnig M, Kuhn C, Meyerhof W. 2006. Members of RTP and REEP gene families influence functional bitter taste receptor expression. *J Biol Chem* 281:20650-9
- Bernier V, Bichet DG, Bouvier M. 2004a. Pharmacological chaperone action on Gprotein-coupled receptors. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 4:528-33
- Bernier V, Lagace M, Lonergan M, Arthus MF, Bichet DG, Bouvier M. 2004b. Functional rescue of the constitutively internalized V2 vasopressin receptor mutant R137H by the pharmacological chaperone action of SR49059. *Mol Endocrinol* 18:2074-84
- Bernier V, Morello JP, Zarruk A, Debrand N, Salahpour A, et al. 2006. Pharmacologic chaperones as a potential treatment for X-linked nephrogenic diabetes insipidus. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 17:232-43
- Bodenmuller H, Schaller HC. 1981. Conserved amino acid sequence of a neuropeptide, the head activator, from coelenterates to humans. *Nature* 293:579-80
- Bodenmuller H, Schaller HC, Darai G. 1980. Human hypothalamus and intestine contain a hydra-neuropeptide. *Neurosci Lett* 16:71-4
- Bodles AM, El-Agnaf OM, Greer B, Guthrie DJ, Irvine GB. 2004. Inhibition of fibril formation and toxicity of a fragment of alpha-synuclein by an N-methylated peptide analogue. *Neurosci Lett* 359:89-93
- Bonham C, Abbott C. 2008. Are second generation antipsychotics a distinct class? *J Psychiatr Pract* 14:225-31
- Bouschet T, Martin S, Henley JM. 2005. Receptor-activity-modifying proteins are required for forward trafficking of the calcium-sensing receptor to the plasma membrane. *Journal of Cell Science* 118:4709-20

- Bouvier M. 2001. Oligomerization of G-protein-coupled transmitter receptors. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2:274-86
- Brzostowski JA, Kimmel AR. 2001. Signaling at zero G: G-protein-independent functions for 7-TM receptors. *Trends Biochem Sci* 26:291-7
- Buckley PF. 1999. The role of typical and atypical antipsychotic medications in the management of agitation and aggression. *J Clin Psychiatry* 60 Suppl 10:52-60
- Bush CF, Hall RA. 2008. Olfactory receptor trafficking to the plasma membrane. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 65:2289-95
- Bush CF, Jones SV, Lyle AN, Minneman KP, Ressler KJ, Hall RA. 2007. Specificity of olfactory receptor interactions with other G protein-coupled receptors. *J Biol Chem* 282:19042-51
- Calver AR, Robbins MJ, Cosio C, Rice SQ, Babbs AJ, et al. 2001. The C-terminal domains of the GABA(b) receptor subunits mediate intracellular trafficking but are not required for receptor signaling. *J Neurosci* 21:1203-10
- Cao TT, Deacon HW, Reczek D, Bretscher A, von Zastrow M. 1999. A kinase-regulated PDZ-domain interaction controls endocytic sorting of the beta2-adrenergic receptor. *Nature* 401:286-90
- Chalothorn D, McCune DF, Edelmann SE, Garcia-Cazarin ML, Tsujimoto G, Piascik MT. 2002. Differences in the cellular localization and agonist-mediated internalization properties of the alpha(1)-adrenoceptor subtypes. *Mol Pharmacol* 61:1008-16
- Chan LF, Webb TR, Chung TT, Meimaridou E, Cooray S, et al. 2009. MRAP and MRAP2 are bidirectional regulators of the melanocortin receptor family. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 106:6146-51
- Chatterjee N, Stegmuller J, Schatzle P, Karram K, Koroll M, et al. 2008. Interaction of syntenin-1 and the NG2 proteoglycan in migratory oligodendrocyte precursor cells. *J Biol Chem* 283:8310-7
- Chen C, Li JG, Chen Y, Huang P, Wang Y, Liu-Chen LY. 2006. GEC1 interacts with the kappa opioid receptor and enhances expression of the receptor. *J Biol Chem* 281:7983-93
- Chen Y, Chen C, Kotsikorou E, Lynch DL, Reggio PH, Liu-Chen LY. 2009. GEC1-kappa opioid receptor binding involves hydrophobic interactions: GEC1 has chaperonelike effect. *J Biol Chem* 284:1673-85
- Cherezov VR, D.M.; Hanson, M.A.; Rasmussen, S.; Sun Thian, F.; Kobilka, T.S.; Choi, H.-J.; Kuhn, P.; Weis, W.I.; Kobilka, B.K.; Stevens, R.C. 2007. High-Resolution Crystal Structure of an Engineered Human B₂-Adrenergic G Protein-Coupled Receptor. *Science* 318:1258-65
- Civelli O. 2005. GPCR deorphanizations: the novel, the known and the unexpected transmitters. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 26:15-9
- Civelli O, Saito Y, Wang Z, Nothacker HP, Reinscheid RK. 2006. Orphan GPCRs and their ligands. *Pharmacol Ther* 110:525-32
- Colley NJ, Baker EK, Stamnes MA, Zuker CS. 1991. The cyclophilin homolog ninaA is required in the secretory pathway. *Cell* 67:255-63
- Conn KJ, Gao W, McKee A, Lan MS, Ullman MD, et al. 2004. Identification of the protein disulfide isomerase family member PDIp in experimental Parkinson's disease and Lewy body pathology. *Brain Res* 1022:164-72
- Conn PM, Ulloa-Aguirre A, Ito J, Janovick JA. 2007. G protein-coupled receptor trafficking in health and disease: lessons learned to prepare for therapeutic mutant rescue in vivo. *Pharmacol Rev* 59:225-50

- Couve A, Filippov AK, Connolly CN, Bettler B, Brown DA, Moss SJ. 1998. Intracellular retention of recombinant GABAB receptors. *J Biol Chem* 273:26361-7
- Couve A, Kittler JT, Uren JM, Calver AR, Pangalos MN, et al. 2001. Association of GABA(B) receptors and members of the 14-3-3 family of signaling proteins. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 17:317-28
- Dawson TM, Dawson VL. 2003. Rare genetic mutations shed light on the pathogenesis of Parkinson disease. *J Clin Invest* 111:145-51
- Decaillot FM, Rozenfeld R, Gupta A, Devi LA. 2008. Cell surface targeting of mu-delta opioid receptor heterodimers by RTP4. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105:16045-50
- Dejneka NS, Bennett J. 2001. Gene therapy and retinitis pigmentosa: advances and future challenges. *Bioessays* 23:662-8
- Dev KK. 2004. Making protein interactions druggable: targeting PDZ domains. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 3:1047-56
- Doi T, Hiroaki Y, Arimoto I, Fujiyoshi Y, Okamoto T, et al. 1997. Characterization of human endothelin B receptor and mutant receptors expressed in insect cells. *Eur J Biochem* 248:139-48
- Dryja TP, McGee TL, Reichel E, Hahn LB, Cowley GS, et al. 1990. A point mutation of the rhodopsin gene in one form of retinitis pigmentosa. *Nature* 343:364-6
- Dusonchet J, Bensadoun JC, Schneider BL, Aebischer P. 2009. Targeted overexpression of the parkin substrate Pael-R in the nigrostriatal system of adult rats to model Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 35:32-41
- Dwyer ND, Troemel ER, Sengupta P, Bargmann CI. 1998. Odorant receptor localization to olfactory cilia is mediated by ODR-4, a novel membrane-associated protein. *Cell* 93:455-66
- Ekman R, Salford L, Brun A, Larsson I. 1990. Hydra head activator-like immunoreactivity in human brain astrocytomas grade III-IV and the surrounding brain tissue. *Peptides* 11:271-5
- Ellgaard L, Helenius A. 2003. Quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 4:181-91
- Estrach S, Legg J, Watt FM. 2007. Syntenin mediates Delta1-induced cohesiveness of epidermal stem cells in culture. *J Cell Sci* 120:2944-52
- Fam SR, Paquet M, Castleberry AM, Oller H, Lee CJ, et al. 2005. P2Y1 receptor signaling is controlled by interaction with the PDZ scaffold NHERF-2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 102:8042-7
- Fernandez-Larrea J, Merlos-Suarez A, Urena JM, Baselga J, Arribas J. 1999. A role for a PDZ protein in the early secretory pathway for the targeting of proTGF-alpha to the cell surface. *Mol Cell* 3:423-33
- Ferre S, Quiroz C, Woods AS, Cunha R, Popoli P, et al. 2008. An update on adenosine A2A-dopamine D2 receptor interactions: implications for the function of G protein-coupled receptors. *Curr Pharm Des* 14:1468-74
- Ferreira PA, Nakayama TA, Pak WL, Travis GH. 1996. Cyclophilin-related protein RanBP2 acts as chaperone for red/green opsin. *Nature* 383:637-40
- Fitzgerald JC, Plun-Favreau H. 2008. Emerging pathways in genetic Parkinson's disease: autosomal-recessive genes in Parkinson's disease--a common pathway? *FEBS J* 275:5758-66
- Fotiadis D, Liang Y, Filipek S, Saperstein DA, Engel A, Palczewski K. 2003. Atomic-force microscopy: Rhodopsin dimers in native disc membranes. *Nature* 421:127-8
- Franco R, Casado V, Cortes A, Ferrada C, Mallol J, et al. 2007. Basic concepts in Gprotein-coupled receptor homo- and heterodimerization. *ScientificWorldJournal* 7:48-57

- Frielle T, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ. 1989. Properties of the beta 1- and beta 2-adrenergic receptor subtypes revealed by molecular cloning. *Clin Chem* 35:721-5
- Fukae J, Sato S, Shiba K, Sato K, Mori H, et al. 2009. Programmed cell death-2 isoform1 is ubiquitinated by parkin and increased in the substantia nigra of patients with autosomal recessive Parkinson's disease. *FEBS Lett* 583:521-5
- Fuxe K, Ferre S, Genedani S, Franco R, Agnati LF. 2007. Adenosine receptor-dopamine receptor interactions in the basal ganglia and their relevance for brain function. *Physiol Behav* 92:210-7
- Fuxe K, Marcellino D, Rivera A, Diaz-Cabiale Z, Filip M, et al. 2008. Receptor-receptor interactions within receptor mosaics. Impact on neuropsychopharmacology. *Brain Res Rev* 58:415-52
- Garriga P, Liu X, Khorana HG. 1996. Structure and function in rhodopsin: correct folding and misfolding in point mutants at and in proximity to the site of the retinitis pigmentosa mutation Leu-125-->Arg in the transmembrane helix C. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93:4560-4
- Gassmann M, Shaban H, Vigot R, Sansig G, Haller C, et al. 2004. Redistribution of GABAB(1) protein and atypical GABAB responses in GABAB(2)-deficient mice. *J Neurosci* 24:6086-97
- Giasson BI, Lee VM. 2001. Parkin and the molecular pathways of Parkinson's disease. *Neuron* 31:885-8
- Gimelbrant AA, Haley SL, McClintock TS. 2001. Olfactory receptor trafficking involves conserved regulatory steps. *J Biol Chem* 276:7285-90
- Gines S, Hillion J, Torvinen M, Le Crom S, Casado V, et al. 2000. Dopamine D1 and adenosine A1 receptors form functionally interacting heteromeric complexes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97:8606-11
- Greenberg A, Verbalis JG. 2006. Vasopressin receptor antagonists. *Kidney Int* 69:2124-30
- Guan XM, Kobilka TS, Kobilka BK. 1992. Enhancement of membrane insertion and function in a type IIIb membrane protein following introduction of a cleavable signal peptide. *J Biol Chem* 267:21995-8
- Guerrini R, Marini C. 2006. Genetic malformations of cortical development. *Exp Brain Res* 173:322-33
- Guillet-Deniau I, Burnol AF, Girard J. 1997. Identification and localization of a skeletal muscle secrotonin 5-HT2A receptor coupled to the Jak/STAT pathway. *J Biol Chem* 272:14825-9
- Gurevich VV, Gurevich EV. 2008. Rich tapestry of G protein-coupled receptor signaling and regulatory mechanisms. *Mol Pharmacol* 74:312-6
- Gurrath M. 2001. Peptide-binding G protein-coupled receptors: new opportunities for drug design. *Curr Med Chem* 8:1605-48
- Hague C, Chen Z, Pupo AS, Schulte NA, Toews ML, Minneman KP. 2004a. The N terminus of the human alpha1D-adrenergic receptor prevents cell surface expression. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 309:388-97
- Hague C, Lee SE, Chen Z, Prinster SC, Hall RA, Minneman KP. 2006. Heterodimers of alpha1B- and alpha1D-adrenergic receptors form a single functional entity. *Mol Pharmacol* 69:45-55
- Hague C, Uberti MA, Chen Z, Bush CF, Jones SV, et al. 2004b. Olfactory receptor surface expression is driven by association with the beta2-adrenergic receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 101:13672-6

- Hague C, Uberti MA, Chen Z, Hall RA, Minneman KP. 2004c. Cell surface expression of alpha1D-adrenergic receptors is controlled by heterodimerization with alpha1B-adrenergic receptors. *J Biol Chem* 279:15541-9
- Hall RA, Lefkowitz RJ. 2002. Regulation of G protein-coupled receptor signaling by scaffold proteins. *Circ Res* 91:672-80
- Hall RA, Ostedgaard LS, Premont RT, Blitzer JT, Rahman N, et al. 1998a. A C-terminal motif found in the beta2-adrenergic receptor, P2Y1 receptor and cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator determines binding to the Na+/H+ exchanger regulatory factor family of PDZ proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* 95:8496-501
- Hall RA, Premont RT, Chow CW, Blitzer JT, Pitcher JA, et al. 1998b. The beta2adrenergic receptor interacts with the Na+/H+-exchanger regulatory factor to control Na+/H+ exchange. *Nature* 392:626-30
- Hardman JGL, L.E., ed. 2001. *Goodman and Gilman's The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics*. Chicago: McGraw-Hill Medical Publishing Division. 2148 pp.
- Hay DL, Poyner DR, Sexton PM. 2006. GPCR modulation by RAMPs. *Pharmacol Ther* 109:173-97
- He J, Bellini M, Inuzuka H, Xu J, Xiong Y, et al. 2006. Proteomic analysis of beta1adrenergic receptor interactions with PDZ scaffold proteins. *J Biol Chem* 281:2820-7
- Hegde RS, Kang SW. 2008. The concept of translocational regulation. *J Cell Biol* 182:225-32
- Hill SJ. 2006. G-protein-coupled receptors: past, present and future. *Br J Pharmacol* 147 Suppl 1:S27-37
- Hinkle PM, Sebag JA. 2009. Structure and function of the melanocortin2 receptor accessory protein (MRAP). *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 300:25-31
- Hirasawa A, Sugawara T, Awaji T, Tsumaya K, Ito H, Tsujimoto G. 1997. Subtypespecific differences in subcellular localization of alpha1-adrenoceptors: chlorethylclonidine preferentially alkylates the accessible cell surface alpha1adrenoceptors irrespective of the subtype. *Mol Pharmacol* 52:764-70
- Holtz WA, O'Malley KL. 2003. Parkinsonian mimetics induce aspects of unfolded protein response in death of dopaminergic neurons. *J Biol Chem* 278:19367-77
- Imai Y, Inoue H, Kataoka A, Hua-Qin W, Masuda M, et al. 2007. Pael receptor is involved in dopamine metabolism in the nigrostriatal system. *Neurosci Res* 59:413-25
- Imai Y, Soda M, Inoue H, Hattori N, Mizuno Y, Takahashi R. 2001. An unfolded putative transmembrane polypeptide, which can lead to endoplasmic reticulum stress, is a substrate of Parkin. *Cell* 105:891-902
- Insel PA, Tang CM, Hahntow I, Michel MC. 2007. Impact of GPCRs in clinical medicine: monogenic diseases, genetic variants and drug targets. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1768:994-1005
- Jackson N, Doherty J, Coulter S. 2008. Neuropsychiatric complications of commonly used palliative care drugs. *Postgrad Med J* 84:121-6; quiz 5
- Janovick JA, Goulet M, Bush E, Greer J, Wettlaufer DG, Conn PM. 2003. Structureactivity relations of successful pharmacologic chaperones for rescue of naturally occurring and manufactured mutants of the gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 305:608-14
- Janovick JA, Maya-Nunez G, Conn PM. 2002. Rescue of hypogonadotropic hypogonadism-causing and manufactured GnRH receptor mutants by a specific

protein-folding template: misrouted proteins as a novel disease etiology and therapeutic target. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 87:3255-62

- Jansen A, Andermann E. 2005. Genetics of the polymicrogyria syndromes. *J Med Genet* 42:369-78
- Jenner P, Olanow CW. 1996. Oxidative stress and the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Neurology* 47:S161-70
- Ji TH, Grossmann M, Ji I. 1998. G protein-coupled receptors. I. Diversity of receptorligand interactions. *J Biol Chem* 273:17299-302
- Jin Z, Tietjen I, Bu L, Liu-Yesucevitz L, Gaur SK, et al. 2007. Disease-associated mutations affect GPR56 protein trafficking and cell surface expression. *Hum Mol Genet* 16:1972-85
- Jordan BA, Cvejic S, Devi LA. 2000. Opioids and their complicated receptor complexes. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 23:S5-S18
- Katada S, Tanaka M, Touhara K. 2004. Structural determinants for membrane trafficking and G protein selectivity of a mouse olfactory receptor. *J Neurochem* 90:1453-63
- Kaupmann K, Huggel K, Heid J, Flor PJ, Bischoff S, et al. 1997. Expression cloning of GABA(B) receptors uncovers similarity to metabotropic glutamate receptors. *Nature* 386:239-46
- Klammt C, Srivastava A, Eifler N, Junge F, Beyermann M, et al. 2007. Functional analysis of cell-free-produced human endothelin B receptor reveals transmembrane segment 1 as an essential area for ET-1 binding and homodimer formation. *FEBS J* 274:3257-69
- Kosel S, Hofhaus G, Maassen A, Vieregge P, Graeber MB. 1999. Role of mitochondria in Parkinson disease. *Biol Chem* 380:865-70
- Krautwurst D, Yau KW, Reed RR. 1998. Identification of ligands for olfactory receptors by functional expression of a receptor library. *Cell* 95:917-26
- Kristiansen K. 2004. Molecular mechanisms of ligand binding, signaling, and regulation within the superfamily of G-protein-coupled receptors: molecular modeling and mutagenesis approaches to receptor structure and function. *Pharmacol Ther* 103:21-80
- Kubota K, Niinuma Y, Kaneko M, Okuma Y, Sugai M, et al. 2006. Suppressive effects of 4-phenylbutyrate on the aggregation of Pael receptors and endoplasmic reticulum stress. *J Neurochem* 97:1259-68
- Lagerstrom MC, Schioth HB. 2008. Structural diversity of G protein-coupled receptors and significance for drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 7:339-57
- Lan H, Liu Y, Bell MI, Gurevich VV, Neve KA. 2009. A dopamine D2 receptor mutant capable of G protein-mediated signaling but deficient in arrestin binding. *Mol Pharmacol* 75:113-23
- Lang AE, Lozano AM. 1998. Parkinson's disease. First of two parts. *N Engl J Med* 339:1044-53
- Langston JW, Ballard P. 1984. Parkinsonism induced by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine (MPTP): implications for treatment and the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Can J Neurol Sci* 11:160-5
- Langston JW, Forno LS, Rebert CS, Irwin I. 1984a. Selective nigral toxicity after systemic administration of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyrine (MPTP) in the squirrel monkey. *Brain Res* 292:390-4
- Langston JW, Irwin I, Langston EB, Forno LS. 1984b. 1-Methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion (MPP+): identification of a metabolite of MPTP, a toxin selective to the substantia nigra. *Neurosci Lett* 48:87-92

- Langston JW, Langston EB, Irwin I. 1984c. MPTP-induced parkinsonism in human and non-human primates--clinical and experimental aspects. *Acta Neurol Scand Suppl* 100:49-54
- Latysheva N, Muratov G, Rajesh S, Padgett M, Hotchin NA, et al. 2006. Syntenin-1 is a new component of tetraspanin-enriched microdomains: mechanisms and consequences of the interaction of syntenin-1 with CD63. *Mol Cell Biol* 26:7707-18
- Lavoie C, Mercier JF, Salahpour A, Umapathy D, Breit A, et al. 2002. Beta 1/beta 2adrenergic receptor heterodimerization regulates beta 2-adrenergic receptor internalization and ERK signaling efficacy. *J Biol Chem* 277:35402-10
- Leanos-Miranda A, Janovick JA, Conn PM. 2002. Receptor-misrouting: an unexpectedly prevalent and rescuable etiology in gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor-mediated hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 87:4825-8
- Leclerc PC, Auger-Messier M, Lanctot PM, Escher E, Leduc R, Guillemette G. 2002. A Polyaromatic Caveolin-Binding-Like Motif in the Cytoplasmic Tail of the Type 1 Receptor for Angiotensin II Plays an Important Role in Receptor Trafficking and Signaling. *Endocrinology* 143:4702-10
- Lee FJ, Pei L, Moszczynska A, Vukusic B, Fletcher PJ, Liu F. 2007. Dopamine transporter cell surface localization facilitated by a direct interaction with the dopamine D2 receptor. *EMBO J* 26:2127-36
- Lefkowitz RJ. 1998. G protein-coupled receptors. III. New roles for receptor kinases and beta-arrestins in receptor signaling and desensitization. *J Biol Chem* 273:18677-80
- Lefkowitz RJ. 2004. Historical review: a brief history and personal retrospective of seven-transmembrane receptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 25:413-22
- Lehman CW, Lee JD, Komives CF. 2005. Ubiquitously expressed GPCR membranetrafficking orthologs. *Genomics* 85:386-91
- Lein ES, Hawrylycz MJ, Ao N, Ayres M, Bensinger A, et al. 2007. Genome-wide atlas of gene expression in the adult mouse brain. *Nature* 445:168-76
- Leng N, Gu G, Simerly RB, Spindel ER. 1999. Molecular cloning and characterization of two putative G protein-coupled receptors which are highly expressed in the central nervous system. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* 69:73-83
- Leucht C, Kitzmantel M, Chua L, Kane J, Leucht S. 2008. Haloperidol versus chlorpromazine for schizophrenia. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*:CD004278
- Leucht S, Corves C, Arbter D, Engel RR, Li C, Davis JM. 2009. Second-generation versus first-generation antipsychotic drugs for schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Lancet* 373:31-41
- Levoye A, Dam J, Ayoub MA, Guillaume JL, Jockers R. 2006. Do orphan G-proteincoupled receptors have ligand-independent functions? New insights from receptor heterodimers. *EMBO Rep* 7:1094-8
- Levoye A, Jockers R. 2008. Alternative drug discovery approaches for orphan GPCRs. *Drug Discov Today* 13:52-8
- Liang Y, Fotiadis D, Filipek S, Saperstein DA, Palczewski K, Engel A. 2003. Organization of the G protein-coupled receptors rhodopsin and opsin in native membranes. *J Biol Chem* 278:21655-62
- Lin X, Janovick JA, Brothers S, Blomenrohr M, Bogerd J, Conn PM. 1998. Addition of catfish gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) receptor intracellular carboxylterminal tail to rat GnRH receptor alters receptor expression and regulation. *Mol Endocrinol* 12:161-71

- Loconto J, Papes F, Chang E, Stowers L, Jones EP, et al. 2003. Functional expression of murine V2R pheromone receptors involves selective association with the M10 and M1 families of MHC class Ib molecules. *Cell* 112:607-18
- Luttrell LM. 2005. Composition and function of g protein-coupled receptor signalsomes controlling mitogen-activated protein kinase activity. *J Mol Neurosci* 26:253-64
- Malhotra JD, Kaufman RJ. 2007. The endoplasmic reticulum and the unfolded protein response. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 18:716-31
- Marazziti D, Gallo A, Golini E, Matteoni R, Tocchini-Valentini GP. 1998. Molecular cloning and chromosomal localization of the mouse Gpr37 gene encoding an orphan G-protein-coupled peptide receptor expressed in brain and testis. *Genomics* 53:315-24
- Marazziti D, Golini E, Mandillo S, Magrelli A, Witke W, et al. 2004. Altered dopamine signaling and MPTP resistance in mice lacking the Parkinson's disease-associated GPR37/parkin-associated endothelin-like receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:10189-94
- Marazziti D, Mandillo S, Di Pietro C, Golini E, Matteoni R, Tocchini-Valentini GP. 2007. GPR37 associates with the dopamine transporter to modulate dopamine uptake and behavioral responses to dopaminergic drugs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:9846-51
- Margeta-Mitrovic M, Jan YN, Jan LY. 2000. A trafficking checkpoint controls GABA(B) receptor heterodimerization. *Neuron* 27:97-106
- Margeta-Mitrovic M, Jan YN, Jan LY. 2001a. Function of GB1 and GB2 subunits in G protein coupling of GABA(B) receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98:14649-54
- Margeta-Mitrovic M, Jan YN, Jan LY. 2001b. Ligand-induced signal transduction within heterodimeric GABA(B) receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98:14643-8
- Margeta-Mitrovic M, Mitrovic I, Riley RC, Jan LY, Basbaum AI. 1999. Immunohistochemical localization of GABA(B) receptors in the rat central nervous system. *J Comp Neurol* 405:299-321
- Marshall FH, White J, Main M, Green A, Wise A. 1999. GABA(B) receptors function as heterodimers. *Biochem Soc Trans* 27:530-5
- McDonald NA, Henstridge CM, Connolly CN, Irving AJ. 2007. An essential role for constitutive endocytosis, but not activity, in the axonal targeting of the CB1 cannabinoid receptor. *Mol Pharmacol* 71:976-84
- McLatchie LM, Fraser NJ, Main MJ, Wise A, Brown J, et al. 1998. RAMPs regulate the transport and ligand specificity of the calcitonin-receptor-like receptor. *Nature* 393:333-9
- Metherell LA, Chapple JP, Cooray S, David A, Becker C, et al. 2005. Mutations in MRAP, encoding a new interacting partner of the ACTH receptor, cause familial glucocorticoid deficiency type 2. *Nat Genet* 37:166-70
- Meunier J, Mouledous L, Topham CM. 2000. The nociceptin (ORL1) receptor: molecular cloning and functional architecture. *Peptides* 21:893-900
- Michelsen K, Yuan H, Schwappach B. 2005. Hide and run. Arginine-based endoplasmicreticulum-sorting motifs in the assembly of heteromultimeric membrane proteins. *EMBO Rep* 6:717-22
- Milasta S, Pediani J, Appelbe S, Trim S, Wyatt M, et al. 2006. Interactions between the Mas-related receptors MrgD and MrgE alter signalling and trafficking of MrgD. *Mol Pharmacol* 69:479-91
- Milojevic T, Reiterer V, Stefan E, Korkhov VM, Dorostkar MM, et al. 2006. The Ubiquitin-Specific Protease Usp4 Regulates the Cell Surface Level of the A2a Receptor. *Molecular Pharmacology* 69:1083-94

- Mizuno T, Schmauss C, Rayport S. 2007. Distinct roles of presynaptic dopamine receptors in the differential modulation of the intrinsic synapses of mediumspiny neurons in the nucleus accumbens. *BMC Neurosci* 8:8
- Mochizuki H. 2009. Parkin gene therapy. *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders* 15:S43-S5
- Morello JP, Bichet DG. 2001. Nephrogenic diabetes insipidus. *Annu Rev Physiol* 63:607-30
- Morello JP, Salahpour A, Laperriere A, Bernier V, Arthus MF, et al. 2000. Pharmacological chaperones rescue cell-surface expression and function of misfolded V2 vasopressin receptor mutants. *J Clin Invest* 105:887-95
- Murakami T, Shoji M, Imai Y, Inoue H, Kawarabayashi T, et al. 2004. Pael-R is accumulated in Lewy bodies of Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol* 55:439-42
- Mustafi DP, K. 2009. Topology of Class A G-protein couple receptors: Insight Gained from Crystal Structures of Rhodopsins, Adrenergic, and Adenosine Receptors. *Molecular Pharmacology* 75:1-12
- Nelson G, Hoon MA, Chandrashekar J, Zhang Y, Ryba NJ, Zuker CS. 2001. Mammalian sweet taste receptors. *Cell* 106:381-90
- Neuhaus EM, Mashukova A, Zhang W, Barbour J, Hatt H. 2006. A specific heat shock protein enhances the expression of mammalian olfactory receptor proteins. *Chem Senses* 31:445-52
- Noorwez SM, Kuksa V, Imanishi Y, Zhu L, Filipek S, et al. 2003. Pharmacological chaperone-mediated in vivo folding and stabilization of the P23H-opsin mutant associated with autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa. *J Biol Chem* 278:14442-50
- Nordstrom R, Andersson H. 2006. Amino-terminal processing of the human cannabinoid receptor 1. *J Recept Signal Transduct Res* 26:259-67
- Ohno K, Koroll M, El Far O, Scholze P, Gomeza J, Betz H. 2004. The neuronal glycine transporter 2 interacts with the PDZ domain protein syntenin-1. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 26:518-29
- Osaka H, Wang YL, Takada K, Takizawa S, Setsuie R, et al. 2003. Ubiquitin carboxyterminal hydrolase L1 binds to and stabilizes monoubiquitin in neuron. *Hum Mol Genet* 12:1945-58
- Pagano A, Rovelli G, Mosbacher J, Lohmann T, Duthey B, et al. 2001. C-terminal interaction is essential for surface trafficking but not for heteromeric assembly of GABA(b) receptors. *J Neurosci* 21:1189-202
- Paquet M, Asay MJ, Fam SR, Inuzuka H, Castleberry AM, et al. 2006. The PDZ scaffold NHERF-2 interacts with mGluR5 and regulates receptor activity. *J Biol Chem* 281:29949-61
- Parent A, Laroche G, Hamelin E, Parent JL. 2008. RACK1 regulates the cell surface expression of the G protein-coupled receptor for thromboxane A(2). *Traffic* 9:394-407
- Pesah Y, Pham T, Burgess H, Middlebrooks B, Verstreken P, et al. 2004. Drosophila parkin mutants have decreased mass and cell size and increased sensitivity to oxygen radical stress. *Development* 131:2183-94
- Prinster SC, Hague C, Hall RA. 2005. Heterodimerization of g protein-coupled receptors: specificity and functional significance. *Pharmacol Rev* 57:289-98
- Pupo AS, Uberti MA, Minneman KP. 2003. N-terminal truncation of human alpha1Dadrenoceptors increases expression of binding sites but not protein. *Eur J Pharmacol* 462:1-8

- Ram FS, Sestini P. 2003. Regular inhaled short acting beta2 agonists for the management of stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thorax* 58:580-4
- Rasmussen SGFC, H.J.; Rosenbaum, D.M.; Kobilka, T.S.; Thian, F.S.; Edwards, P.C.; Burghammer, M.; Ratnala, V.R.P.; Sanishvili, R.; Fischetti, R.F.; Schertler, G.F.; Weis, W.I.; Kobilka, B.K. 2007. Crystal Structure of the human beta2 adrenergic G-protein-coupled receptor. *Nature* 450:383-7
- Rezgaoui M, Susens U, Ignatov A, Gelderblom M, Glassmeier G, et al. 2006. The neuropeptide head activator is a high-affinity ligand for the orphan G-proteincoupled receptor GPR37. *J Cell Sci* 119:542-9
- Robben JH, Sze M, Knoers NV, Deen PM. 2007. Functional rescue of vasopressin V2 receptor mutants in MDCK cells by pharmacochaperones: relevance to therapy of nephrogenic diabetes insipidus. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 292:F253-60
- Rosenbaum DMC, V.; Hanson, M.A.; Rasmussen, S.G.; Thian, F.S.; Kobilka, T.S.; Choi, H.J.; Yao, X.J.; Weis, W.I.; Stevens, R.C.; Kobilka, B.K. 2007. GPCR engineering yields high-resolution structural insights into beta2-adrenergic receptor function. *Science* 318:1266-73
- Roy S, Rached M, Gallo-Payet N. 2007. Differential regulation of the human adrenocorticotropin receptor [melanocortin-2 receptor (MC2R)] by human MC2R accessory protein isoforms alpha and beta in isogenic human embryonic kidney 293 cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 21:1656-69
- Saito H, Kubota M, Roberts RW, Chi Q, Matsunami H. 2004. RTP family members induce functional expression of mammalian odorant receptors. *Cell* 119:679-91
- Sakamoto A, Yanagisawa M, Sawamura T, Enoki T, Ohtani T, et al. 1993. Distinct subdomains of human endothelin receptors determine their selectivity to endothelinA-selective antagonist and endothelinB-selective agonists. *J Biol Chem* 268:8547-53
- Salahpour A, Angers S, Mercier JF, Lagace M, Marullo S, Bouvier M. 2004. Homodimerization of the beta2-adrenergic receptor as a prerequisite for cell surface targeting. *J Biol Chem* 279:33390-7
- Schulz JB. 2008. Update on the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol* 255 Suppl 5:3-7
- Sebag JA, Hinkle PM. 2009. Regions of melanocortin 2 (MC2) receptor accessory protein necessary for dual topology and MC2 receptor trafficking and signaling. *J Biol Chem* 284:610-8
- Shieh BH, Stamnes MA, Seavello S, Harris GL, Zuker CS. 1989. The ninaA gene required for visual transduction in Drosophila encodes a homologue of cyclosporin Abinding protein. *Nature* 338:67-70
- Squire IB, Barnett DB. 2000. The rational use of beta-adrenoceptor blockers in the treatment of heart failure. The changing face of an old therapy. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 49:1-9
- Strange PG. 2008. Antipsychotic drug action: antagonism, inverse agonism or partial agonism. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 29:314-21
- Sung CH, Schneider BG, Agarwal N, Papermaster DS, Nathans J. 1991. Functional heterogeneity of mutant rhodopsins responsible for autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88:8840-4
- Takahashi R, Imai Y. 2003. Pael receptor, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol* 250 Suppl 3:III25-9
- Tallman J. 2000. Dimerization of G-protein-coupled receptors: implications for drug design and signaling. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 23:S1-2

- Tan CM, Brady AE, Nickols HH, Wang Q, Limbird LE. 2004. Membrane trafficking of G protein-coupled receptors. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 44:559-609
- Theroux TL, Esbenshade TA, Peavy RD, Minneman KP. 1996. Coupling efficiencies of human alpha 1-adrenergic receptor subtypes: titration of receptor density and responsiveness with inducible and repressible expression vectors. *Mol Pharmacol* 50:1376-87
- Tu JC, Xiao B, Yuan JP, Lanahan AA, Leoffert K, et al. 1998. Homer binds a novel proline-rich motif and links group 1 metabotropic glutamate receptors with IP3 receptors. *Neuron* 21:717-26
- Uberti MA, Hague C, Oller H, Minneman KP, Hall RA. 2005. Heterodimerization with beta2-adrenergic receptors promotes surface expression and functional activity of alpha1D-adrenergic receptors. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 313:16-23
- Uberti MA, Hall RA, Minneman KP. 2003. Subtype-specific dimerization of alpha 1adrenoceptors: effects on receptor expression and pharmacological properties. *Mol Pharmacol* 64:1379-90
- Ulloa-Aguirre A, Janovick JA, Leanos-Miranda A, Conn PM. 2003. Misrouted cell surface receptors as a novel disease aetiology and potential therapeutic target: the case of hypogonadotropic hypogonadism due to gonadotropin-releasing hormone resistance. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 7:175-85
- Ulloa-Aguirre A, Janovick JA, Miranda AL, Conn PM. 2006. G-protein-coupled receptor trafficking: understanding the chemical basis of health and disease. *ACS Chem Biol* 1:631-8
- Ulusoy A, Kirik D. 2008. Can overexpression of parkin provide a novel strategy for neuroprotection in Parkinson's disease? *Exp Neurol* 212:258-60
- Valdenaire O, Giller T, Breu V, Ardati A, Schweizer A, Richards JG. 1998. A new family of orphan G protein-coupled receptors predominantly expressed in the brain. *FEBS Lett* 424:193-6
- Wang HQ, Imai Y, Inoue H, Kataoka A, Iita S, et al. 2008. Pael-R transgenic mice crossed with parkin deficient mice displayed progressive and selective catecholaminergic neuronal loss. *J Neurochem* 107:171-85
- Weinman EJ, Hall RA, Friedman PA, Liu-Chen LY, Shenolikar S. 2006. The association of NHERF adaptor proteins with g protein-coupled receptors and receptor tyrosine kinases. *Annu Rev Physiol* 68:491-505
- Wellendorph P, Brauner-Osborne H. 2004. Molecular cloning, expression, and sequence analysis of GPRC6A, a novel family C G-protein-coupled receptor. *Gene* 335:37-46
- Wellendorph P, Hansen KB, Balsgaard A, Greenwood JR, Egebjerg J, Brauner-Osborne H. 2005. Deorphanization of GPRC6A: a promiscuous L-alpha-amino acid receptor with preference for basic amino acids. *Mol Pharmacol* 67:589-97
- Wellerdieck C, Oles M, Pott L, Korsching S, Gisselmann G, Hatt H. 1997. Functional expression of odorant receptors of the zebrafish Danio rerio and of the nematode C. elegans in HEK293 cells. *Chem Senses* 22:467-76
- Wetzel CH, Oles M, Wellerdieck C, Kuczkowiak M, Gisselmann G, Hatt H. 1999. Specificity and sensitivity of a human olfactory receptor functionally expressed in human embryonic kidney 293 cells and Xenopus Laevis oocytes. *J Neurosci* 19:7426-33
- White JH, Wise A, Main MJ, Green A, Fraser NJ, et al. 1998. Heterodimerization is required for the formation of a functional GABA(B) receptor. *Nature* 396:679-82

- Wruck CJ, Funke-Kaiser H, Pufe T, Kusserow H, Menk M, et al. 2004. Regulation of Transport of the Angiotensin AT2 Receptor by a Novel Membrane-Associated Golgi Protein. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 25:57-64
- Wuller S, Wiesner B, Loffler A, Furkert J, Krause G, et al. 2004. Pharmacochaperones post-translationally enhance cell surface expression by increasing conformational stability of wild-type and mutant vasopressin V2 receptors. *J Biol Chem* 279:47254-63
- Yang Y, Gehrke S, Haque ME, Imai Y, Kosek J, et al. 2005. Inactivation of Drosophila DJ-1 leads to impairments of oxidative stress response and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:13670-5
- Yang Y, Nishimura I, Imai Y, Takahashi R, Lu B. 2003. Parkin suppresses dopaminergic neuron-selective neurotoxicity induced by Pael-R in Drosophila. *Neuron* 37:911-24
- Yang YX, Wood NW, Latchman DS. 2009. Molecular basis of Parkinson's disease. *Neuroreport* 20:150-6
- Young JC, Hoogenraad NJ, Hartl FU. 2003. Molecular chaperones Hsp90 and Hsp70 deliver preproteins to the mitochondrial import receptor Tom70. *Cell* 112:41-50
- Zeng Z, Su K, Kyaw H, Li Y. 1997. A novel endothelin receptor type-B-like gene enriched in the brain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 233:559-67
- Zhang Y, Dawson VL, Dawson TM. 2000. Oxidative stress and genetics in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 7:240-50
- Zhou C, Huang Y, Przedborski S. 2008. Oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease: a mechanism of pathogenic and therapeutic significance. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1147:93-104